THE DISTRIBUTION OF DEMERSAL FISHES OVER HETEROGENOUS SEAFLOOR HABITATS: AN APPLICATION OF LANDSCAPE ECOLOGY TO VIDEO IMAGERY COLLECTED IN A CENTRAL CALIFORNIA STATE MARINE CONSERVATION AREA

A Thesis Presented to the Faculty of the Division of Science and Environmental Policy California State University Monterey Bay

> In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree Master of Science in

Coastal and Watershed Science and Policy

By Ashley Knight

Fall 2011

CALIFORNIA STATE UNIVERSITY MONTEREY BAY

The Undersigned Faculty Committee Approves the

Thesis of Ashley Knight:

THE DISTRIBUTION OF DEMERSAL FISHES OVER HETEROGENOUS SEAFLOOR HABITATS: AN APPLICATION OF LANDSCAPE ECOLOGY TO VIDEO IMAGERY COLLECTED IN A CENTRAL CALIFORNIA STATE MARINE CONSERVATION AREA

James Lindholm, Chair California State University Monterey Bay

Fred Watson California State University Monterey Bay

Andrew DeVogelaere Monterey Bay National Marine Sanctuary, Monterey

Marsha Moroh, Dean College of Science, Media Arts, and Technology

Approval Date

Copyright © 2011

by

Ashley Knight

All Rights Reserved

For all the sea has to teach us... and all the fun in learning it.

ABSTRACT

The distribution of demersal fishes over heterogeneous seafloor habitats: An application of landscape ecology to video imagery collected in a Central California State Marine Conservation Area

by Ashley Knight Master of Science in Coastal and Watershed Science and Policy

California State University Monterey Bay, 2011

Using landscape ecology approaches, this study investigated the importance of structural patterning in the seafloor landscape and the scales at which demersal fishes associate with different habitats. The following document describes the project in three parts: 1) The circumstances surrounding the management of the study site and the methodological approaches used; 2) The analytical framework and results; 3) Potential applications of these results in management.

By describing the landscapes across which demersal fish are distributed at the Piedras Blancas State Marine Conservation Area (PBSMCA), within the Monterey Bay National Marine Sanctuary, we evaluated fish-habitat associations in the context of other central California deepwater studies. Quantifying and monitoring the distribution of fishes over the habitats at this site is critical to understanding how this marine protected area (MPA) may function as a conservation measure.

Imagery surveys are ideal for collecting data on seafloor habitats and observing fishes in these habitats; these data are becoming an increasingly important contribution to marine conservation management. We examined imagery collected at the PBSMCA with a towed camera system. Surveys were conducted in 2007 and 2008 in water depths ranging from 30-120 m. Video imagery gathered with the sled was viewed as a set of non-overlapping video quadrats (frames). We compared generalized linear models to estimate the probability of response (detection) of selected demersal fish groups to a number of habitat variables, assuming a uniform probability of detection.

Results suggested that, for all fish groupings, there is evidence that seafloor substrate plays a very strong role in determining distributions. Depth also played an important role, while biogenic structure and soft-sediment bedforms were rarely of importance to the distributions. Our results are consistent for the most part with fish distribution studies conducted at other sites within the central California region.

These results highlight the importance of using imagery to collect monitoring data about marine landscapes. Use of a simple, low-cost camera system enabled us to address complex ecological questions about demersal fish-habitat associations across a heterogeneous landscape and provided useful results in the form of baseline data to MPA managers and site characterization to the Monterey Bay National Marine Sanctuary.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PAGE

vi

ABSTRACTv
LIST OF TABLES
LIST OF FIGURES ix
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS x
CHAPTER
1 THE IMPORTANCE OF IMAGERY DATA AND LANDSCAPE MODELING IN ECOSYSTEM MONITORING AND MANAGEMENT1
Management Background: State and Federal Protected Areas on California's Central Coast1
Applied Research: Contribution of Imagery Data to Conservation Management
2 A LANDSCAPE MODELING APPROACH TO THE ANALYSIS OF SEAFLOOR IMAGERY DATA
Abstract
Introduction
Application of a model-comparison approach to fish distributions10
Methods11
Study site11
Field sampling13
Video post-processing
Statistical Analyses: Fitting Generalized Linear Models15
Statistical Analyses: Substrate Classification Model Set (MS1)17
Statistical Analyses: Full Model Set (MS2)17
Statistical Analyses: Averaged Coefficients and Relative Importance (RI)
Spatial Autocorrelation19
Results20
Spatial Autocorrelation Error! Bookmark not defined.
Overall Model Results21

Species-level Model Results	266
Species-complex-level Model Results	27
Genus-level Model Results	
Order-level and Multi-family-level Model Results	29
Discussion	30
3 SUMMARY OF THE APPLICATIONS OF MARINE LANDSCAPE MODELING TO MANAGEMENT AGENCIES	355
Monterey Bay National Marine Sanctuary (NOAA)	355
The Marine Life Protection Act Initiative: MPA Monitoring Enterprise and California Department of Fish and Game	
REFERENCES	
APPENDIX A: COMPLETE MODEL SETS	46
APPENDIX B: AVERAGED COEFFICIENTS FOR MS2	48
APPENDIX C: R-CODE FOR GLM AND AIC COMPARISONS	

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1 Model variables, categories, and definitions	15
Table 2 Habitat classification schemes used in MS1	18
Table 3 All fishes observed in the study area	21
Table 4 Results of MS1 AIC comparison	23
Table 5 Results of MS2 AIC comparison	24
Table 6. Habitat category associations	25
Table B1 Averaged substrate coefficients for substrate (SUBS) and relief (REL) variables	50
Table B2 Averaged substrate coefficients for grain-size (GS) variables	51
Table B3 Averaged biogenic structure, depth, and bedform coefficients for grain-size (GS) variables	51
Table B4 Averaged substrate coefficients for habitat compexity (HABCOM) variables	52
Table B5 Averaged biogenic structure, depth, and bedform coefficients for habitat compexity (HABCOM) variables	52

LIST OF FIGURES

PAGE

Figure 1 The "towfish" camera sled system.	4
Figure 2 Study area at Piedras Blancas	12
Figure 3 Camera sled frame delineation	14
Figure B1 Plots of substrate coefficients relative to each other	53

Figure B2 Correlograms of <i>Moran's I</i> for all fish groupings	56
Figure B3 Correlogram for pygmy rockfish after data culling	56
1.8mi 20 Contrologram for PyBing roominin when a war owning	

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I am very grateful to many individuals who have helped me along the path of this work. To Dr. James Lindholm, for his help in crafting the project, endless feedback and discussion, and encouragement in using the camera sled data set for a thesis. It was not without challenges but indeed demonstrates that we can use simple tools to answer complex questions and assemble meaningful results. To Dr. Fred Watson, for feedback, assistance, and coaching for the statistical component of this work. Thank you for daily early-morning email answers to my late-night email questions and for your continued patience as I took it all in. Thank you for the R-code, you are truly a guru. To Dr. Andrew DeVogelaere, for presenting this project to Dr. Lindholm and fostering and encouraging the MBNMS-CSUMB Partnership all these years. Thank you also for your essential comments and assistance on the application of these data to the MBNMS. The sled is an amazing tool and also carries great potential to be even better, hold on to it!

I am also tremendously thankful to the Monterey Bay NMS, for providing the ship time, the camera sled, staff, and funding to conduct this research. Specifically to Jean de Marignac and Lorraine Anglin for all that they have done to get (and keep) the sled in the water. Thanks also to the crew of the *R/V Fulmar*, who have driven us along endless, slow, straight lines for 8+ hours a day. This research was also supported by a scholarship graciously awarded by the California State University Council on Ocean Affairs, Science, and Technology (COAST).

Many thanks to all of the students and other volunteers who have helped on research cruises. I wish I had enough room to list you all, but know that each of you is greatly appreciated. Thanks to Bob Lea for help with identifications and teaching me to be cautiously accurate in fish identification. Thanks also to Doug Smith for a very inspiring geology lesson on the rock formations at Piedras Blancas. I am grateful for (and endlessly amazed by) the multibeam imagery data used in this study that were acquired, processed, archived, and distributed by the Seafloor Mapping Lab at CSU Monterey Bay.

I am very grateful to all who have read many drafts of this manuscript: my committee, Kristen Hunter-Thompson, Tonya Huff, Jessica Watson, Chelsea Prindle, Megan Kelly, Corina Marks, Scott Toews, Todd Hallenbeck, Matt Subia, Donna Kline, and Monica Galligan. I am very appreciative of the support of my family and friends throughout this process; without their interest and encouragement, perseverance throughout this project would have been an even greater challenge. I am particularly grateful to my dog Nerpa for making me go outside and take a walk when I had been staring at the computer too long; it was (almost) always what I needed. Finally, thanks to the camera sled for being a sturdy, steadfast little machine that has been through some rough tows but always makes it back on board. A simple invention capable of collecting very important and exciting imagery; it allows us a glimpse of what few have seen before.

CHAPTER 1

THE IMPORTANCE OF IMAGERY DATA AND LANDSCAPE MODELING IN ECOSYSTEM MONITORING AND MANAGEMENT

Challenges in marine resource conservation such as degraded ecosystems, declining resources (Worm 2009), and limited funding have increased the need for management in near-shore marine habitats. Traditionally, in an attempt to understand and prevent overexploitation of resources, managers have used single-species management approaches such as stock assessments and restrictions or quotas (NRC 2001; Preikshot and Pauly 2005). However, shortcomings in these methods have redirected management towards ecosystem-based approaches, which focus on monitoring relationships among populations, habitats, and human uses of the ecosystem (Pauly et al. 2002). Ecosystem management approaches such as marine protected areas (MPAs) and essential fish habitat closures have gained widespread recognition in coastal science and policy (NRC 2001) and have been implemented by federal, state, and local governments at a variety of scales.

MANAGEMENT BACKGROUND: STATE AND FEDERAL PROTECTED AREAS ON CALIFORNIA'S CENTRAL COAST

Along California's 1,350-km coastline, local, state, and federal managed areas are frequently overlapping. Although this overlap can sometimes cause ambiguity over governance and responsibility (Crowder et al. 2006) it can also foster collaboration among agencies and create a more effective management network (Airame et al. 2003). In California, the National Marine Sanctuary Program, under the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, has designated four federal marine sanctuaries spanning over 600 km of California's coastline. A state-wide network of marine reserves, conservation areas, and parks are being implemented along the entire coast by the California Department of Fish and Game (CDFG). Also, county and city agencies have established and managed local beaches, tidepools, and parks along their shores for decades (Brown 2001). Ecologically, there is a need to identify habitat-associated groups and guilds of fishes that persist along the entire coastline (Yoklavich et al. 2000). An understanding of these associations at various locations along the west coast of North America will be valuable for predicting community response to disturbances, for applications to resource surveys, and for identifying the components of essential fish habitats (Yoklavich et al. 2000).

Protection of fish habitats using ecosystem-based measures provides a number of conservation "insurance" benefits to allow for unforeseen natural and anthropogenic catastrophes, increases in biodiversity, and spillover of stocks into non-protected (fished) areas (NRC 2001; Palumbi 2001). Networks of protected areas provide additional ecological benefits for larval dispersal, genetic diversity, and for migratory species (Palumbi 2003). Understanding the degree to which fish stocks benefit from these ecosystem-based conservation measures requires monitoring of closed areas and comparison to actively fished areas.

The California Marine Life Protection Act of 1999 (MLPA) initiated a network of MPAs along the entire coast. After two failed implementation attempts, the Resources Legacy Fund stepped in to partner with the CDFG. This partnership facilitated the MLPA Initiative to involve stakeholders statewide and provided needed assistance to the CDFG. In September 2007, the MPAs in the Central Coast Region (CCR) of the network were implemented. This was the first of five regional networks to be implemented in the combined coast-wide network. Protected areas in the Central Coast Region include recreation-based marine parks, strict no-take marine reserves, and conservation areas, where limited take of particular, commercially-valuable species is allowed (CDFG 2007).

Obtaining baseline data for these MPAs upon establishment is a critical objective of the *MLPA Master Plan for MPAs* (CDFG 2007), a document guiding the designation, implementation, monitoring, and management of the CCR and future networks. These data are collected to describe the habitats and biota inside and adjacent to an MPA at the time of implementation. Comparison of baseline data with monitoring data gathered in subsequent years is fundamental to measuring the success of these protected areas. In the CCR, intertidal and shallow-subtidal (to 30 m) baseline and monitoring surveys are primarily conducted by the Partnership for Interdisciplinary Study of Coastal Oceans (PISCO) using SCUBA and intertidal transecting techniques. Deepwater (30 - 365 m) data collection was conducted by a state-funded monitoring program using the human-occupied submersible *Delta* to collect video and photographic imagery. However, funding for monitoring was insufficient to collect data in each of the 29 MPAs. This left critical gaps in a data set to be used for future assessment of the efficacy of MPAs.

Many of the CCR MPAs fall within the boundaries of the Monterey Bay National Marine Sanctuary (MBNMS), a federally protected area designated in 1992. The MBNMS encompasses over 8,000 km² off the coast from San Francisco Bay to San Simeon and extends 48 km offshore. The large area of the MBNMS includes a variety of habitat types and ecosystems along the continental shelf as well as in deep submarine canyons. The area along the shelf - including California state waters - is an economically valuable area with regards to fisheries, and the "site characterization" of this area is a major objective of the *MBNMS Management Plan* (NOAA 2009). Site characterization includes an assessment of the diversity of habitats and biota within the sanctuary (NOAA 2009). Through this study, we have collected MBNMS characterization data to provide baseline MPA information at a study site encompassed by both state and federal management areas, filling one data gap in the CCR MPA network.

APPLIED RESEARCH: CONTRIBUTION OF IMAGERY DATA TO CONSERVATION MANAGEMENT

Imagery surveys of the seafloor are becoming an increasingly important contribution to marine conservation monitoring and management. Although projects directed at gathering seafloor imagery are often burdened by high operational costs and restricted to a narrow window of weather and sea conditions, the non-extractive nature of imagery collection (as opposed to the traditional trawl or hook-and-line sampling techniques) compliments well with monitoring for conservation and management goals.

In a collaborative partnership between the Institute for Applied Marine Ecology at CSU Monterey Bay (IfAME) and the MBNMS, a "towfish" camera sled system (Figure 1), owned and operated by the National Marine Sanctuary Program, was used to survey and characterize the continental shelf between depths of 20 and 250 m. The "sled" is a simple video camera system capable of collecting valuable imagery data. Its simple

design and operation gives it the potential to cover a considerably large area in a relatively short period of time. In comparison to other imagery platforms such as remotely operated vehicles (ROVs) and human-occupied submersibles, camera sleds are relatively inexpensive to operate and maintain.



Figure 1. The "towfish" camera sled system consists of a single video camera, 10 cm sizing lasers, and navigational equipment (including depth and altitude sensors). The sled is tethered to the support vessel with a 250 m coaxial umbilical and winch wire.

To assist the state in monitoring MPAs, surveys conducted during partnership research cruises combined MBNMS site characterization efforts with MPA baseline data collection. These surveys were conducted from 2007-2011 and targeted areas of interest to the MBNMS as well as in overlapping, recently-designated state MPAs that were not included in California's state monitoring program. The goals of these surveys were to collect imagery on the seafloor habitats, demersal fishes, and invertebrate communities in these areas.

The Piedras Blancas State Marine Conservation Area is within the southernmost boundary of MBNMS and was surveyed with the sanctuary's camera sled in 2007, 2008, and 2011. These three benchmarks offer a significant contribution to the monitoring of the CCR Network and data from these surveys will be incorporated in the 2012 Five-Year Review of the CCR MPA Network.

Prior to these surveys at Piedras Blancas, there was little information available about the seafloor of the area. At implementation in 2007, seafloor mapping data were only available at 70 m resolution and the extent of hard- and soft-bottom seafloor habitats was largely unknown. However, as high resolution multibeam bathymetry (2 m resolution) became available from the Seafloor Mapping Lab at CSU Monterey Bay in 2010, the extent of these substrates became apparent. Since 2007, the video surveys conducted by the camera sled revealed complex, high-relief rocky habitats interspersed with low relief soft sediment patches including ripple-scour-depressions, a potentially important soft-sediment habitat for a variety of organisms (e.g., Hallenbeck 2010). An analysis of passenger fishing vessel surveys from 1988-2004 in the vicinity of Piedras Blancas describes the most frequently landed fish as rockfishes (most commonly blue, gopher, olive, vermillion, yellowtail, and copper) and lingcod (Reinicke et al. 2008).

The research encompassed by this project incorporated the imagery surveys from 2007 and 2008. We quantified the distribution of fish species and higher taxonomic groupings over the heterogeneous seafloor habitats encountered in the PBSMCA. We tested the response (detection) of fish with regards to several seafloor habitat variables: substrate classification, biogenic structure, soft-sediment bedforms, and depth. Since fish-habitat associations have been studied using a variety of scales of habitat classification, we examined the classification scale that best explained the distribution of each group. We then examined the particular categories of substrate, biogenic and bedform features, and depth that best explained the distribution of each group.

We employed an AIC model comparison approach using generalized linear models (GLMs, see Burnham and Anderson 2002) to estimate how the probability of detection of a fish group depended upon specific habitat variables. This approach assumes a uniform detection probability; that fish were detected equally in each habitat type. Although MacKenzie (2006) contends that inferences made in violation of this assumption may result in an inaccurate estimation of habitat use by a species, given the difficulties of surveying the depths of the ocean floor with any tool, we must proceed with the assumption that we sampled an adequate amount of each habitat type to accurately represent distributions within each type. This modeling approach allowed us to investigate the evidence supporting the combinations of the variables that play the most important role in determining fish distribution as well as the habitat types with which each fish grouping demonstrated the strongest association. The model comparison approach allowed us to estimate the "best" combination of habitat variables, given all model possibilities. We were also able to test for spatial autocorrelation without having to eliminate large amounts of data, to address the possible violation of independence inherent in all spatially clustered data sets.

Our results indicated that there was very strong evidence suggesting that substrate is the most important variable (of the variables we examined in this study) in the distribution of demersal fishes. Although fish groups showed associations to the seafloor substrate at different classification scales (e.g., hard-bottom (general) vs. boulder (specific)), substrate was nonetheless the most influential variable on the response (detection) of fishes. Depth, followed by biogenic features and soft-sediment bedforms showed some importance in the distributions, but were not nearly as strong.

We divided observed fishes into groups based on species identifications, as well as morphological groups and broad taxonomic groups. Habitat associations of the broad taxonomic groupings of 'small' (<10 cm) and 'large' (>10 cm) rockfish were identified as mixed low relief substrates (i.e. cobble-mud) and moderate relief rocky reefs, respectively. Habitat associations of flatfish were, not surprisingly, identified as soft sediments. Quantification of these distributions can be applied by managers when designating conservation areas based on broad management units such as rockfish bag limits and quotas.

An understanding of habitat associations even at a sub-genus scale can be valuable for species-specific regulations. This less-coarse sub-genus grouping used morphological similarities to group rockfish into clusters of two or more species. Rockfish within a sub-genus grouping were sometimes identifiable to species but often not. To assure consistency, whether species identification was possible or not, the fish were grouped. Most of these groups showed similar habitat associations to low- to moderate-relief rocky reefs. This was consistent with the results of the broad "large rockfish" grouping (moderate-relief rocky reefs). However, distinction between some groups was seen. For example, detections of canary/vermillion/yelloweye rockfish complex were specifically associated with the occurrence of boulder habitats. Two of these three species are heavily managed (canary and yelloweye rockfish) but all three are often indistinguishable to recreational anglers (J. Watson, pers comm).

Ideally, imagery data would provide the ability to identify all individuals to the species level and up-grouping to the management units described above would be a simple bookkeeping procedure. However, even when using higher-resolution ROV and submersible imagery data, this level is not always attainable, thus understanding the application of these broad groups is important to management nonetheless.

Marine managers are faced with complex questions and insufficient data on the distribution of fishes (Airame et al. 2003). This paucity of knowledge was listed explicitly as a limitation in applying ecological criteria to the design of MPAs in the Channel Islands (Airame et al. 2003). The incremental scientific contributions of this study advance the body of knowledge surrounding these criteria. The sled may be an imperfect tool, but it is available, affordable, and has been used to answer complex questions and provide results that are useful to resolving management issues.

CHAPTER 2

A LANDSCAPE MODELING APPROACH TO THE ANALYSIS OF SEAFLOOR IMAGERY DATA

ABSTRACT

Landscape ecology is used to describe the distribution of species with respect to the spatial pattern of habitat patches. Application of this approach to seafloor landscapes, which are often heterogeneous in terms of substrate and structure, allows for a foundation upon which to study the distribution of fishes across patches and throughout the seafloor landscape. We used a towed video camera system to conduct surveys covering an area of approximately 40.5 km² of the seafloor over hard and soft bottom habitats at the Piedras Blancas State Marine Conservation Area offshore of central California. We evaluated the strength of observable fish-habitat associations at a variety of spatial scales, using a set of generalized linear models and compared them using Akaike's Information Criterion (AIC). Further, we evaluated the importance of secondary habitat variables such as depth, soft-sediment bedforms, and biogenic structure in the distributions of fishes. Model results suggested that the most important variable in the distribution of fishes was seafloor substrate, although different groups were associated with seafloor substrate at different scales (e.g., hard-bottom vs. boulders) and substrate categories (e.g., boulders vs. cobbles). Predictor variables of depth, biogenic structure, and soft-sediment bedforms showed importance for some fish groups, though to a lesser degree. Effective spatial management approaches to fisheries conservation must consider seafloor substrate at multiple scales to address the distribution of multiple fish groups.

INTRODUCTION

Landscape ecology describes how spatial heterogeneity (patterning) in an ecological landscape affects ecological processes, including the way organisms associate with their environment (Turner 1989). Although this approach to studying ecosystems

has emerged from observations in terrestrial systems, it has increasingly been applied to marine ecosystems in the past two decades (Robbins and Bell 1994; Hinchey et al. 2008). Application of the tenets of landscape ecology - structure, function, and change - can be used to identify the relationships between seafloor habitats and benthic ecosystem processes, specifically, the distribution of demersal fishes (Grober-Dunsmore et al. 2008; Hinchey et al. 2008).

Fish distributions are governed by broad-scale environmental and physical variables such as water temperature (Gilman et al. 2006), latitude (Witman et al. 2004), and water depth (e.g., Bergen et al. 2001; MacPherson 2003). At smaller scales, fish distributions have been described using structural attributes of seafloor habitat primarily related to substrate type (e.g., hard vs. soft, Anderson and Yoklavich 2007; Zajac 2008), macro-habitat scale (e.g., 10s of meters, Yoklavich et al. 2000; Auster and Lindholm 2005; Lindholm et al. 2007), and micro-habitat scale (e.g., centimeters, Auster et al. 2003a). Fish distributions in relation to biogenic (sessile invertebrate) structure have also been studied (Auster et al. 1991, 2003b; Brødeur 2001), though it has been challenging to demonstrate an association (Love and Yoklavich 2008). It is important to understand the variation in fish responses to these habitat variables, and the scale of response, in order to effectively assess conservation measures that manage certain habitats - or even landscapes of heterogeneous habitats - for protection (e.g., MPAs).

Traditionally, fish distribution studies have used trawl-sampling methods; however, these methods reduce seafloor structure, remove fish, and provide very little habitat data. Alternatively, collecting data with video (or photographic) imagery allows access to habitats inaccessible by bottom trawling (e.g., high relief rocks) and enables *in situ* observation of fish-habitat associations that are only available at these depths through remote imagery. Over the past decade, studies have increasingly used non-invasive fish observation methods with video imagery from submersibles (e.g., Anderson and Yoklavich 2007), remotely operated vehicles (e.g., Auster et al. 2003a), and towed camera systems (e.g., Auster et al. 2003b, Spencer et al. 2005).

Along California's central coast, several fish distribution studies using imagery data have been conducted in "deep" water (30 - 300 m). At Cordell Bank, fish distributions and assemblage structure were shown to differ based on different habitat

scales (Anderson and Yoklavich 2007). Further south, offshore of Davenport, Laidig et al. (2009) found that variability in the distribution of rockfishes over different habitat types may be attributable to life history stage. Within Monterey Bay, Yoklavich et al. (2000) identified guilds of fish species based on their distributions over various habitat types in Soquel Canyon. At the Big Creek Ecological Reserve, fishes were designated in assemblages based on their distributions over different seafloor habitats (Yoklavich et al. 2002). These studies describe, along a roughly 300 km latitudinal gradient, the way that fish are distributed across a variety of landscapes. We contribute to this body of knowledge with an evaluation of fish distributions further south, at Point Piedras Blancas, at a newly designated California State Marine Protected Area in the southern portion of the Monterey Bay National Marine Sanctuary (MBNMS). Understanding landscape variables that affect fish distributions at Piedras Blancas will contribute to the overall understanding of how fish use habitat throughout the central coast area.

Application of a model-comparison approach to fish distributions

In the studies discussed above and similar work in other areas, fish distributions have been evaluated using multivariate clustering representations and analytical approaches such as principal components analysis (PCA, Anderson and Yoklavich 2007; Anderson et al. 2009), canonical correlation analysis (CCA, Stein et al. 1992; Tissot et al. 2007), or with a combination of cluster analysis and null-hypothesis testing (Yoklavich et al. 2000; Tissot et al. 2007). These approaches provide qualitative diagrams that cluster species (or groups) with similar distributions close to one another on two axes and test correlation hypotheses against a null hypothesis.

Meanwhile, comparing fitted linear and logistic models using informationtheoretical approaches, such as Akaike's Information Criterion (AIC), is gaining momentum in ecology (Anderson 2007). Terrestrial ecologists have frequently used the comparison of multiple working hypotheses in a model set to make inferences about the strengths of the different ecological landscape scenarios, such as those involving habitat type and elevation (e.g., Bruggeman et al. 2007). Here, we use a similar approach to describe the distributions of fishes over seafloor habitats, assuming a uniform detection probability. This approach, contrasted to the traditional method of comparing one null hypothesis to all alternates, allows for improved interpretation of a more complicated and dynamic system (Burnham and Anderson 2002; Anderson 2007).

We used a set of generalized linear models (GLMs) to compare multiple working hypotheses (models) that represented different configurations of habitats in the landscape. By fitting a set of models with different combinations of possible explanatory variables, inferences about the system structure can be made from the model that best describes the distribution of each fish group. Further, the relative importance (RI) of each habitat variable can be inferred by examining more than just one model (Burnham and Anderson 2002).

In this study, we examined the distributions of several demersal fish groupings using a camera sled system near Point Piedras Blancas, California. We modeled the observed fish habitat associations using data collected on substrate type, substrate complexity (relief), soft-sediment bedforms, seafloor depth, and invertebrate structure of the habitat. We inferred the relative importance of each of these attributes, as well as the type of habitat with which each fish grouping demonstrated the strongest detectible association. By describing the landscapes across which these fish were distributed, we evaluate fish-habitat associations at Piedras Blancas in the context of other central California deepwater studies.

METHODS

Study site

We collected seafloor video imagery offshore of Point Piedras Blancas, California (35°39'N, 121°17'W) within and adjacent to the Piedras Blancas State Marine Conservation Area (PBSMCA). PBSMCA is one in a network of 29 MPAs implemented in 2007 off the coast of central California (Figure 2). PBSMCA encompasses an area of 22.8 km² near the southern boundary of the MBNMS, and is bordered eastward by a notake Marine Reserve and westward by the California state waters (3 nautical mile) boundary. The PBSMCA is located approximately five kilometers north of San Simeon, California and is a limited-take, state MPA managed by the CDFG. Transects were conducted at depths ranging from 30-120 m and were within the MPA and 1.5 km to the north and west of the MPA boundary.



Figure 2. Study area at Piedras Blancas. Yellow lines indicate transects conducted in 2007 and 2008, the majority of which fall within the blue boundary encompassing the State Marine Conservation Area. Multibeam bathymetry (shaded area) shows areas of higher rugosity are concentrated in the MPAs. 10-m isobaths are represented by grey lines and show the rapid descent of the continental slope to the southwest.

The general geology of the study area shows a mixed-relief complex rocky seabed bordered by low-relief unconsolidated sediments to the north and south (Figure 2). Coastal outcrops bordering the area have been mapped as part of the Franciscan melange. These outcrops are composed of complexly-folded and sheared marine sedimentary rocks that were accreted during the subduction of the Farallon plate (e.g., Shervais et al. 2004). Multibeam imagery gathered by the Seafloor Mapping Lab at CSUMB shows that these structurally-complex features extend seaward from the coast to form the majority of the substrate within the MPA. The bedrock is divided by northwest-trending shear zones with well-expressed large- and small-scale, northwest-plunging folds. The generally planar bathymetry of the continental shelf and scattered boulder fields observed in video imagery indicate that the study area is a wave-cut platform eroded and drowned by Holocene sea level rise (Doug Smith, pers. comm.). Video imagery of the bedrock shows that interstratified hard and soft sedimentary beds give rise to sharply-defined 1 m to 2 m tall ridges. Unconsolidated sediments border the rocky seabed to the north and the south, with rippled scour depressions present in the multibeam data and video imagery adjacent to the reef-sediment interface.

Field sampling

A camera sled was deployed from the National Marine Sanctuary Program's R/V *Fulmar* in July and August of 2007 and 2008. The sled consisted of an aluminum frame protecting an oblique-facing video camera, lights, sizing lasers (10 cm spacing), and navigational equipment; a 250 m armored coaxial cable (tether); and a topside viewing station for piloting the sled and making preliminary observations (Figure 1). The altitude of the sled was controlled by an operator using a dedicated winch that raised and lowered the sled above the seafloor by hauling in or letting out lengths of winch wire and tether. For optimal video quality, the vessel and sled drifted at a speed of one knot or less. Video imagery was recorded live and stored on miniature digital video tapes that were viewed later in the lab. Boat position, sled depth, and some temperature data were also collected.

Video post-processing

Each sample unit for extracting data from video imagery was a non-overlapping video quadrat (referred to here as a 'frame', Figure 3). Distance between the sizing lasers (10 cm) was used to calculate frame width for each sample. To standardize the area encompassed in each frame, we limited imagery to a consistent altitude above the seafloor. Samples in which the frame width was less than 1.0 m or greater than 2.0 m or where the angle was such that the seafloor encompassed less than 75% of the view were eliminated from analysis.

Three habitat variables were collected for each frame: substrate grain-size and corresponding relief, presence of soft sediment bedforms, and presence and morphology of biogenic structure. For the substrate grain-size variable, the primary grain size in a frame (encompassing \geq 50% of the area) and secondary grain size (encompassing \geq 20% of the area) were recorded using a modification of the microhabitat classification system of Greene et al. (1999) and as per Tissot et al. (2006). The relief of both the primary and secondary grain size was recorded using a categorical system (Table 1).



Figure 3. Camera sled frame delineation. Frames are non-overlapping segments of video as the sled moves over the seafloor and are treated as individual sample units

Soft-sediment bedforms were recorded as presence of mounds or depressions in mud or sand that were greater than 10 cm diameter. Biogenic structure was recorded as the presence of specific structure-forming, attached epifaunal invertebrates (sponges, gorgonians, sea whips, and sea pens) greater than 5 cm in height.

The depth of the camera was recorded approximately every minute, using the onscreen display when the camera was closest to the seafloor, and was used as a proxy for seafloor depth throughout that minute of sampling (change in depth rarely exceeded 5 m per 1 km of sampling).

Finally, the observation of any fishes, identified to the lowest taxonomic level possible, was recorded for each frame. Fishes were grouped at the species level (i.e. rosy rockfish, *Sebastes rosaceus*), at the "species complex" level using morphological similarities (i.e. olive or yellowtail rockfish, *Sebastes serranoides* or *S. flavidus*), at the genus level (i.e. large rockfish, *Sebastes* spp >10cm), and also at a more broad taxonomic level (i.e. flatfishes, Order Pleuronectiformes). The resulting dataset consisted of a matrix for each transect, where each sample unit (frame) had a primary and secondary grain-size with corresponding relief, detection/non-detection of bedforms, presence/absence and type of biogenic structure, a depth value, and detection/non-detection of each fish grouping. The occurrence of an individual fish could count in more than one grouping (i.e. a pygmy rockfish could be a species-level group "detection" and also a small

rockfish (<10cm) group "detection") because each grouping was tested with an independent model set.

Substrate	Category	Description			
Soft (S)	Mud (M)	Fine-grain soft sediment			
	Sand (N)	Coarse-grain soft sediment			
	Pebble/Gravel (P)	Loose rocks <2.5 cm			
Hard (H)	Cobble (C)	Loose rocks 2.5-24 cm			
	Boulder (B)	Loose rock >24 cm			
	Rock (R)	Continuous rock (bed or ridge)			
Relief	Category	Description			
	Crested (CS)	Soft sediment with ripples or waves			
	Low (LO)	<1 m above seafloor			
	Moderate (MD)	1-2 m above seafloor			
	High (HI)	>2 m above seafloor			
Bedforms (Mounds/Depressions)	Category	Description			
	Present (MODEP)	>10 cm in diameter			
	Absent (NOMODEP)	<10 cm in diameter or no form whatsoever			
Biogenic Structure	Category	Description			
	Soft (BIO-S)	Sessile invertebrates >5 cm in height on soft			
		substrate (sea whips e.g. Halipteris spp and			
		Stylatula spp and sea pens e.g. Ptilosarcus spp)			
	Hard (BIO-H)	Sessile invertebrates >5 cm on hard substrate			
		(gorgonians, e.g. Swiftia spp; and sponges)			
	None (BIO–NO)	No invertebrates >5 cm height			

Table 1. Model variables, categories, and definitions. Substrate, grain size, and relief categories (adapted from Greene et al (1999)); bedform categories; and biogenic structure categories

Statistical Analyses: Fitting Generalized Linear Models

To test the response (detection/non-detection) of a fish grouping as a function of the descriptive habitat variables and depth, we fit a set of generalized linear models (GLMs) to examine the response to each variable individually and as a combination of variables. Our response, y_i , was binomial, where "1" is detection of a fish grouping and "0" is a non-detection.

We fit the models using the GLM function in the 'R' statistical package (R Development Core Team):

$$\ln(P_{i}/(1-P_{i})) = \beta_{0} + \beta_{1} x_{1,i} + \ldots + \beta_{n} x_{n,i}$$

where $P_i = \Pr(y_i = 1 | x_i)$, β_0 is a constant, $\beta_1 \dots \beta_n$ are coefficients corresponding to the predictor variables $x_{1,i} \dots x_{n,i}$, and y_i is the response variable (detection of a fish at location *i*).

We were primarily interested in fish occurrence, but our observation system (the towed camera system) only allowed us to quantify fish detection. Fish may have occurred within a frame but were either hidden from view (e.g. concealed in a crevice or hole) or may have fled the frame prior to arrival of the camera; both scenarios render the fish undetectable. This non-uniform detection probability could potentially bias inferences about their true habitat associations (as in "Scenario 2" from MacKenzie 2006). We assumed that detection probability was essentially uniform, in order to achieve inference about actual fish occurrence; and we recognize that the validity of these inferences is conditional on the validity of that assumption.

The results from each GLM in a model set were compared using Akiake's Information Criterion (AIC). Specifically, the AIC weights (AIC_w) of each model were compared. AIC_w represents the probability that a model is the best-fit, given the other models in the set (Burnham and Anderson 2002). From the AIC_w, evidence ratios (ERs) for the best-fit models were calculated. ERs compare two models: for our results, ER_o compares the null model to the one with the highest AIC and ER_B compares the two highest AIC_w values to infer the degree to which one is the best fit. When any ER between the best-fit model and the next-best model in the set was $\leq \sqrt{10}$, both were considered (Jeffreys 1961).

We examined two sets of models. First, the Substrate Classification Model Set (MS1) used a number of substrate classification schemes that represented different scales of describing the same habitat (i.e. "hard-bottom" vs. "boulder"). Second, the Full Model

Set (MS2) incorporated additional habitat variables along with the resulting best-fit substrate classification scheme of MS1. The lists of all possible models for MS1 and MS2 are extensive and thus are listed in Appendix A.

Statistical Analyses: Substrate Classification Model Set (MS1)

The first model set (MS1) was constructed to determine the substrate classification scheme that best described the response of a given fish group. To investigate a fish grouping's response to different substrate classification schemes, the grain-size and relief data collected for each frame were re-categorized in several other ways. The resulting schemes included (1) substrate, where the seafloor is categorized as either homogenous hard-bottom or soft-bottom; (2) habitat complexity, where a grain-size and relief were combined (e.g., boulder-moderate or sand-low); (3) grain-size alone; and (4) relief alone. The combination of the primary and secondary coverage of each type (1, 2, 3, and 4, above) were also considered, resulting in a total of eight different habitat classification schemes: primary substrate, substrate combination, primary grain-size, grain-size combination, primary relief, relief combination, primary habitat classification schemes as variables to fit a set of nine single-variable GLMs, where the ninth model was the null model, representing a random distribution.

We used ER_{B} values to determine which model was the best fit of the models in the set. The habitat classification scheme used in the best-fit model (highest AIC_w) from MS1 for each fish grouping was then used in the MS2 analysis. If the two highest AIC_w values held an $\text{ER}_{\text{B}} < \sqrt{10}$, both classification schemes were considered in MS2 because both were similarly well-fit. They occurred as alternate sets in MS2, never in the same model.

Statistical Analyses: Full Model Set (MS2)

The second model set (MS2) used the variable that represented the habitat classification scheme obtained from the best-fit model from MS1 as well as the other habitat variables: bedforms, biogenic structure, and depth. For the full model set, sixteen models total, one of every possible combination of all four variables were fit for each response (see Appendix A for the complete set). We inferred that the model (or models)

with the highest AIC_w values contained the predictors that best explain the detection of each fish grouping. ER_o values were used to compare the model with the highest AIC_w to the null model, to explain the combination of variables that best explained the habitat variables a fish was responding to.

SUBSTRATE (SUBS)			
S=soft (mud, sand, pebble/gravel) H=hard (ro	ck, boulder, cobble)	Categories	
Primary Substrate (SUBS-primary)	Describes the predominant substrate (>50% coverage) in a frame	H or S	
Substrate Combination (SUBS-combo)	Combines the SUBS-primary with secondary substrate	HH or SS or HS or SH	
		(SH and HS also called "mixed")	
GRAIN SIZE (GS)			
M=Mud (fine-grain), N=Sand (coarse-grain), P=	Pebble/Gravel (very coarse grain), C=Cobble (diameter 5-25cm), B=Bo	ulder (diameter >25cm), R=Rock	
Primary Grain Size (GS-primary)	Describes the grain size (>50% coverage) in a frame	M, N, P, C, B, or R	
Grain Size Combo (GS-combo)	Combines the GS-primary with seconday grain-size	e.g. CM, CN, CC, CB, CR	
RELIEF (REL)			
LO=Low (flat and low, <1m), MD=Moderate (~1	m), HI=High (>1m), CR=Crested (waves and/or ripples in M, N,		
Primary Relief (REL-primary)	Describes the relief of GS-primary	LO, MD, HI, or CR	
Relief Combo (REL-combo)	Combines the REL-primary with secondary relief	e.g. MDLO, MDHI, MDCR	
HABITAT COMPLEXITY (HABCOM)			
Primary Habitat (HABCOM-primary)	Combination of GS-primary and REL-primary	e.g. RLO, RMD, RHI, RCR	
Habitat Combination (HABcombo)	Combination of HABCOM-primary and secondary HABCOM	e.g. RLORMD, NLOCLO	

Table 2. Habitat classification schemes used in MS1

*Note that some combinations are not physically possible. (These have been crossed out, above.) For example, R cannot be CR.

Statistical Analyses: Averaged Coefficients and Relative Importance (RI)

According to Anderson (2007), substantial information exists in the second, third, etc. best-fit models and that the averaged model coefficients and relative importance of the variables draw on this available evidence. Each model set from MS2, for each response, was averaged using the MuMIn (Multi-Model Inference) package for R (Barton 2011). This function averages all coefficients (β_n) across all models in the balanced set and returns an averaged value for each, relative to a user-set reference category. From these averaged coefficients, inference can be made about the categories of each variable that a fish is most strongly associated with.

For all habitat variables, the reference category was set at either mud (M), soft (S), low (LO), or the appropriate combination of these (e.g., MLOMLO for the habitat complexity combination scheme). This was done so that inference regarding the categories would be comparable across responses.

Coefficient values that were greater than the reference category values suggested a positive association with a given category and the magnitude of the association was inferred from its value relative to the reference category value. Coefficients less than the reference category would suggest a negative association with a given category. For averaged coefficients, setting the standard errors that were used for inference at a threshold <2.0 provided a level of certainty about each coefficient value.

The MuMIn package also quantifies the relative importance (RI) of each variable, providing the weight of importance that each plays in the model set. This gives an indication of the certainty that the response (detection) of a fish is associated with a given variable. RI values >0.50 suggest 'some' evidence that the variable plays a role, while values >0.75 suggest 'strong' or 'substantial' evidence.

Spatial Autocorrelation

Imagery data (non-overlapping "frames") were collected as sequential points along transect lines, potentially violating the assumption of independence in a random sample. To account for this, we tested for spatial autocorrelation in the residuals for each best-fit model using *Moran's I*. This correlation coefficient provided a value of the covariation in responses within a defined spatial zone. We calculated *Moran's I* for each fish grouping at 50 m increments using custom R-code that is equivalent to the correlation function in the spatial package (Appendix C). Our code was modified to sum a weighted *Moran's I* for each transect, in order to preserve the independence of each transect from the others. These values were plotted as "correlograms" for increasing 50 m bins up to a maximum of 1000 m. For fish species that showed spatial autocorrelation (a decreasing *Moran's I* with increasing distance), the raw responses were culled to remove frames that were within 5 m of each other. Residuals from the culled data were then reexamined using the modified correlogram R-code. Fish species that did not have a decreasing *Moran's I* with increasing distance were assumed not to be spatially autocorrelated.

We used the residuals of the best-fit models to test for autocorrelation. This allows for the model variables to primarily account for the variability in the response and

then quantifies the remaining variation not explained by the variables in the original model fit.

RESULTS

A total of 25 video transects covering approximately 40.5 km² of seafloor were conducted with the camera sled system at the PBSMCA. Depths of the transects ranged from 30-120 m. Of the 15,116 frames observed, 10,540 frames were useable based on the criteria for standardizing frame size and used for analysis. The majority of frames were homogenous soft-sediment substrates (70% of frames), particularly fine-grain sandy-mud. Harder substrata were observed in 24% of frames and mixed hard-and-soft was observed in 6%. Homogenous mud substrates (MM) were the most commonly observed grain-size (64%) and rock (ridges and bedrock) was the next most common (17%).

The two other structural habitat variables, soft-sediment bedforms and biogenic structure were seen in 45.7% and 11.1% of the total frames, respectively. Biogenic structure comprised two classes; "hard substrate biogenic structure" (sponges and gorgonians) was observed in 1.5% of frames and "soft substrate biogenic structure" (sea whips and pens) was observed in 9.5% of frames. Although sponges are sometimes observed growing in soft substrates, this was not observed in imagery from this study.

A total count of 2,186 fish were observed within useable frames and identified to various taxonomic levels (Table 3). Hereafter, all fish counts discussed refer to counts of a fish grouping's detection in a frame, not the total number of individuals observed in a frame. The detection of fish in the frame-by-frame analysis totaled 1,403 fishes in 10,541 frames. Fish that were present in fewer than five frames and did not fit into a species, species-complex, or general group were not used in analysis.

Spatial Autocorrelation

Moran's I correlograms for the residuals of each response's best-fit model from MS2 demonstrated minimal to no spatial autocorrelation for all fishes except pygmy rockfish (Appendix B, Figure B6). The re-plotted correlogram for the culled data for this species showed no spatial autocorrelation (Appendix B, Figure B7), suggesting that the pygmy rockfish data are spatially autocorrelated at distances less than 5m. The culled data were used in the GLM sets.

Table 3. All fishes observed in the study area. The level indicates the taxonomic level fish were identified to, while the response grouping shows the groups as used in the GLMs. $n_{individuals}$ represents the total individuals observed for each group (total $n_{individuals} = 3,237$) while n_{frames} represents the number of frames in which a given grouping occurs (total $n_{frames} = 2,128$).

Level	Response Grouping Description		n individuals	n frames	
Species Level	Painted greenling	Oxylebius pictus	12	12	
	Blackeye goby	Rhinogobiobs nicholsi	314	236	
	Pygmy rockfish	Sebastes wilsoni ²	149	11	
	Rosy rockfish	Sebastes rosaceus 1,3	18	17	
	Squarespot rockfish	Sebastes hopkinsii ³	30	7	
Species Complex	Blue and black rockfish (BLBK)	Sebastes mystinus and S. melanops ³	46	22	
	Copper/gopher rockfish (CPGP)	Sebastes caurinus and S. carnatus ³	33	32	
	Olive and yellowtail rockfish (OLYT)	Sebastes serrinoides and S. flavidus ³	71	38	
	Canary/vermillion/yelloweye (CVYE)	Sebastes pinnager, S. miniatus, S. rubberimus ³	30	39	
	Unidentified Sebastomus	Sebastomus complex ³	363	321	
Genus Level	Ronquils	Rathbunella sp	32	32	
	Small rockfish (<10cm)	TOTAL	274	104	
		Unidentified Sebastes spp <10cm ²	225	93	
	Large rockfish (>10cm)	TOTAL	925	584	
		Unidentified Sebastes spp >10cm ³	323	195	
		Cowcod Sebastes levis ³	1	1	
		Boccacio Sebastes paucispinus ³	1	1	
		Flag rockfish Sebastes rubrivinctus ³	3	3	
		Greenspotted rockfish Sebastes chlorostictus ³	1	1	
		Halfbanded Sebastes semicinctus ³	1	1	
		Starry rockfish Sebastes constellatus ³	4	4	
Order/Family Level	Unidentified Flatfishes	Order Pleuronectiformes	289	283	
	Combfish/lingcod (CMLG)	TOTAL	38	37	
		Unidentified lingcod/combfish	15	15	
		Lingcod Ophoidon elongatus	4	4	
		Combfish Zaniolepis spp	19	19	
Other species identified	ed but not used in analysis (n<5)				
	Pacific hagfish	Etaptretus stouti	2	2	
	Kelp greenling	Hexagrammus decagrammus	4	4	
	Unidentified Poachers	Family Agonidae	2	2	
	Unidentified Rays	Family Rajidae	4	4	
	Pink surfperch	Zacentrus rosaceus	4	4	
		¹ Counted in Sebastomus complex			
		2			

²Counted in small rockfish group

³Counted in large rockfish group

Overall Model Results

All best-fit models (highest AIC_w) in MS1 (Table 4) and MS2 (Table 5) had ER_o values above $\sqrt{10}$, demonstrating at least substantial association with the seafloor substrate, regardless of scale, for all groups (conditional on the assumption of uniform detection probability). In MS1, the most coarse-scale classification scheme, substrate (hard/soft/mixed), was the best predictor for nine fish groups, while the grain-size scheme (best predictor for two fish groups) and the habitat complexity scheme (grain-size plus relief, best predictor for four) described the rest (Table 4). The relief-only scheme was

not the best predictor for any fish group, although this scheme was considered in some MS2 sets because it was a next-best-fit model with an ER_B value $<\sqrt{10}$ for the combfish/lingcod group. Support for the best substrate scale within a set was often very clear. ER_B were greater than $> \sqrt{10}$ for all but four fish groups (details below). These responses had one or more habitat classifications from MS1 that were explored in MS2.

There was observable evidence for some form of habitat association by all fish groups considered because the ER_o between the best-fit model and the null model in MS2 was greater than 449, in all cases (assuming inconsequential detection bias, relative to the strength of the evidence ratios). Although the best-fit models varied in the number and type of variables, the best-fit for each response always included the substrate variable (Table 5). For all best-fit models that contained two or more variables, the depth variable was always present. ER_B values for all best-fit and second-best-fit models in MS2 were less than $\sqrt{10}$. This suggests that, while the models explain the distribution better than the null model (representing a random distribution) for all responses, the best-fit models within a set were similar. RI values and categories corresponding to averaged coefficients nonetheless allow us to infer which variables and categories of variables supported each response.

Table 6 represents the specific categories within each variable with which each fish was most strongly associated. For each fish grouping, we observed an association to at least one particular substrate category. For most fish groupings, we observed an association to more that one substrate category, such as large rockfish who demonstrated a positive association with 53 categories of habitat complexity classification scheme. For fish-habitat associations that were observed with more than two categories, the relative values of the coefficients are plotted in Figures B1A/B/C of Appendix B. Standard errors were > 2.0 for most coefficients in the bedform and biogenic structure variables, demonstrating that inference from these variables was often inconclusive. (Refer to Appendix B, Tables B3 and B5 for all coefficient values.)

Table 4. Results of MS1 AIC comparison. ER_o represents the ratio between the best-fit and null-model AIC_w values. ER_B represents the ratio between the best-fit and second-best-fit model. Multiple substrate classification schemes are reported for responses where ER_B values were $< \sqrt{10}$. The corresponding AIC_w value(s) (AIC_w1/2/3) for these fish groupings are also shown for the best-fit model (and the second and third best-fit models, where applicable).

	Best-supported Substrate Classification Scheme	AIC _w 1/2/3	ER _o	ER _B
Single Species Level				
Painted greenling	SUBS-combo	0.91	3.51E+07	11.25
Blackeye goby	GS-combo	1.00	1.51E+175	9.74E+06
Pygmy rockfish	SUBS-primary	0.79	8.24E+05	7.40
Rosy rockfish	SUBS-combo	0.83	1.15E+08	5.94
Squarespot rockfish	SUBS-combo	0.75	449.62	5.48
Slecies Complex Level				
Blue/Black rockfish (BLBK)	GS-primary/SUBS-combo	0.63/0.26	6.07E+08	2.39
Copper/Gopher rockfish (CPGP)	SUBS-combo/SUBS-primary	0.66/0.24	7.08E+12	2.75
Olive/yellowtail rockfish (OLYT)	HABCOM-primary	0.99	2.81E+21	80.96
Canary/Vermillion/Yelloweye rockfish (CVYE)	GS-primary	0.88	1.60E+17	7.53
Sebastomus rockfish	HABCOM-primary	0.99	7.18E+166	78.09
Genus Level				
Ronquils	SUBS-primary/HABCOM-primary/GS-primary	0.47/0.28/0.17	4.98E+15	1.66
Small rockfishes (<10cm)	HABCOM-primary	0.91	8.99E+49	10.32
Large rockfishes (>10cm)	HABCOM-combo	1.00	7.53E+285	3.45E+03
Order/Multi-family Level				
Flatfishes (Pleuronectiformes)	SUBS-combo	0.82	1.96E+41	4.43
Combfish/Lingcod	SUBS-primary/REL-primary	0.41/0.33	6.10	1.24

Table 5. Results of MS2 AIC comparison and corresponding RI values for each variable. RI values >0.75 are bolded, indicating substantial evidence while RI values between 0.50 and 0.75 are italicized, indicating positive but not substantial evidence.

	1			1	<u>Relative Importance (RI) Va</u>			
	Best Fit Model	AIC _w	ER。	ER _B	Substrate	Depth	Biogenic Struct	Bedforms
Single Species Level								
Painted greenling	SUBS-combo + DEPTH	0.60	4.15E+09	2.72	1.00	0.99	0.18	0.27
Blackeye goby	GS-combo + DEPTH + MODEPS	0.32	1.26E+177	2.18	1.00	0.98	0.39	0.54
Pygmy rockfish	SUBS-primary + DEPTH	0.54	1.32E+07	2.72	1.00	0.94	0.22	0.27
Rosy rockfish	SUBS-combo	0.41	1.15E+08	1.79	1.00	0.36	0.12	0.27
Squarespot rockfish	SUBS-combo	0.35	4.50E+02	1.44	0.96	0.41	0.17	0.29
Sub-genus Level								
Blue/Black rockfish (BLBK)	SUBS-combo + DEPTH	0.35	1.54E+11	1.37	1.00	1.00	0.26	0.42
Copper/Gopher rockfish (CPGP)	SUBS-combo + DEPTH + BIOGENIC	0.32	1.05E+14	1.76	1.00	0.91	0.63	0.28
Olive/yellowtail rockfish (OLYT) HABCOM-primary		0.46	2.81E+21	2.70	1.00	0.27	0.14	0.27
Canary/Vermillion/Yelloweye rockfish (CVYE)	GS-primary	0.40	1.60E+17	1.62	1.00	0.38	0.12	0.27
Sebastomus rockfish (STOM) HABCOM-primary		0.36	7.18E+166	2.18	1.00	0.27	0.28	0.31
Genus Level								
Ronquils	SUBS-primary + DEPTH + MODEPS	0.13	5.66E+15	1.05	1.00	0.53	0.18	0.50
Small rockfishes (<10cm)	HABCOM-primary + DEPTH	0.60	1.24E+56	2.63	1.00	1.00	0.17	0.28
Large rockfishes (>10cm) HABCOM-combo + DEPTH + BIOGENIC		0.46	4.98E+287	1.71	1.00	0.75	0.96	0.37
Order/Multi-family Level								
Flatfishes (Pleuronectiformes)	SUBS-combo	0.35	1.96E+41	1.75	1.00	0.27	0.25	0.36
Combfish/Lingcod	REL-primary + DEPTH + MODEPS	0.29	1.12E+03	1.21	0.84	1.00	0.21	0.58

Table 6. Habitat categories with which each fish group was observed to have the strongest associations. The substrate column displays the category with the highest (and in most cases, second highest) coefficient value. Asterisks (*) indicates an association with multiple coefficients, see Appendix B for more information. Tilde (\sim) indicates that the standard errors for the coefficients were >2.0 and are not thus not reported.

Single Species Level	Substrate	Depth	Biogenic Struct	Bedforms
Painted greenling	HS, HH	shallow	~	~
Blackeye goby	MR, RC*	shallow	Soft, Hard	NO
Pygmy rockfish	н	deep	~	~
Rosy rockfish	HS, HH*	deep	Hard	~
Squarespot rockfish	SH, HH	deep	~	~
Sub-genus Level				
Blue/Black rockfish (BLBK)	HS, SH*	shallow	~	~
Copper/Gopher rockfish (CPGP)	HS, HH*	deep	Soft, Hard	NO
Olive/yellowtail rockfish (OLYT)	RHI, RMD*		Hard	~
Canary/Vermillion/Yelloweye rockfish (CVYE)	B, R*		~	~
Sebastomus rockfish (STOM)	BHI, MCS*		Hard, Soft	NO
Genus Level				
Ronquils	Н	deep	Hard	~
Small rockfishes (<10cm)	MCS, CLO*	deep	Soft, Hard	~
Large rockfishes (>10cm)	MLORMD*	shallow	Soft, Hard	YES
Order/Multi-family Level				
Flatfishes (Pleuronectiformes)	SS, SH		Soft	YES
Combfish/Lingcod	CS, LO	deep	Soft	NO

Species-level Model Results

We identified 428 fishes to one of five species levels: painted greenling *Oxylebius pictus* (n=12), blackeye goby *Rhinogobiops nicholsi* (n=381), rosy rockfish *Sebastes rosaceus* (n=17), pygmy rockfish *S. wilsoni* (n=11), and squarespot rockfish *S. hopkinsi* (n=7).

For MS1, the substrate classification scheme that best described the distribution of fish at the species-level was substrate (hard vs. soft). The substrate-combination (SUBScombo) scheme described squarespot rockfish (AIC_w=0.75, ER_B=5.48), rosy rockfish (AIC_w=0.83, ER_B=5.94), and painted greenling (AIC_w=0.91, ER_B=11.25) while the primary-only substrate (SUBS-primary) best described pygmy rockfish (AIC_w=0.79, ER_B=7.40). Blackeye gobies, however, were shown to be distributed based on the grainsize combination scheme (GS-combo, AIC_w=1.00, ER_B=9.75x10⁶) (Table 4).

For the averaged full model (MS2), the substrate variable had the highest RI for all species, followed by depth, bedforms, and biogenic structure (Table 5). For painted greenling, blackeye goby, and pygmy rockfish, depth showed strong evidence as an important variable (RI = 0.99, 0.98, and 0.94, respectively). Depth was also present in each of the best-fit models from MS2 for each of these groups. Bedforms demonstrated some evidence of importance in the distribution of blackeye gobies (RI=0.54).

From MS2, averaged coefficient values demonstrated that painted greenlings and pygmy rockfish were both observed to associate with primarily hard substrate categories, however painted greenlings were observed to be associated with shallow habitats while pygmies were observed to be associated with deeper areas (Table 6). Squarespot rockfish showed an observable association with mixed (soft-hard) and homogenous hard-bottom substrate categories. Blackeye gobies showed a strong observable association with a variety of grain-size combination categories, the strongest of which were mud-rock and rock-cobble (see Appendix B for a complete list) as well as a positive association with soft-substrate biogenic structure (though a negative association with hard-substrate biostructure) and to soft sediment without bedforms. Rosy rockfish showed an observable association with both mixed and homogenous hard substrate categories and hard-
substrate biogenic structure. (See Appendix B for a full list of averaged coefficient values for which the corresponding categories are described above.)

Species-complex-level Model Results

We identified 471 fishes to five multi-species groups (species complexes): blue/black rockfishes *Sebastes mystinus* and *S. melanops* (BLBK, n=22), copper/gopher rockfishes *S. caurinus* and *S. carnatus* (CPGP, n=32), olive/yellowtail rockfishes *S. serranoides* and *S. flavidus* (OLYT, n=38), canary/vermillion/yelloweye rockfish *S. pinnager, S. miniatus*, and *S. ruberrimus* (CVYE, n=39), and the *Sebastomus* complex within the *Sebastes* genus (STOM, n=340) which includes starry rockfish *S. constellatus*, greenspotted rockfish *S. chlorostictus*, rosy rockfish *S. rosaceus*, among others.

The species-complex-level revealed a broader spectrum of substrate classification schemes that best described the responses (Table 4). The SUBS-combo scheme was best only for CPGP (AIC_w=0.66) and due to the low ER_B (2.75) the SUBS-primary scheme was also considered in MS2 (AIC_w=0.24, ER_B=7.08). Primary grain-size (GS-primary) best described the distribution of both CVYE and BLBK (AIC_w=0.63 and 0.88, ER_B=2.39 and 7.53, respectively). Because of the low ER_B for BLBK, the second-highest classification scheme of SUBS-combo (AIC_w=0.26, ER_B=6.07) was also considered in MS2. For OLYT and STOM, the best classification scheme was the primary habitat-complexity scheme (HABCOM-primary, AIC_w=0.99 and 0.99, ER_B=80.96 and 78.09 respectively).

For the averaged full model (MS2, Table 5), the substrate variable had the strongest RI for all groupings, although depth also had a strong RI for BLBK and CPGP rockfish (1.00 and 0.91, respectively), suggesting that there is substantial evidence that substrate and depth play an important role in the distribution of these groups. CPGP also had a notable RI for the biogenic structure variable (0.64), suggesting some evidence that this variable is associated with CPGP distributions.

Averaged coefficients (Table 6) demonstrated that BLBK showed the strongest observable association with mixed substrates, while CPGP showed the strongest observable association with mixed and homogenous hard substrates. OLYT showed an observable association with high and moderate relief rock ridges and STOM with high relief boulder grain sizes as well as crested mud. Both showed an observable association with hard-substrate biogenic structure and STOM showed an observable negative association to soft biostructure and bedforms. CVYE were observed to be associated with boulder and rock grain sizes. (See Appendix B for a full list of averaged coefficient values for which the corresponding categories are described above.)

Genus-level Model Results

Ronquils of the *Rathbunella* genus (*R. alleni* and *R. hypoplecta*) were indistinguishable and thus grouped together at the genus level (n=32). Additional genus-level responses were small rockfish ($\sim 5 - 10$ cm) and large rockfish (> 10 cm). Small rockfish (n=104) included pygmy rockfish, halfbanded rockfish *Sebastes semicinctus*, and unidentifiable small rockfishes. Large rockfishes (n=584) included all other identifiable (see Table 3 for a complete list) and unidentifiable rockfishes.

For the substrate classification scheme (MS1; Table 4), both size classes of rockfish were observed to respond most strongly to habitat complexity (HABCOM) schemes; small rockfish responded to HABCOM-primary AIC_w=0.91, ER_B =10.32) and large rockfish responded to the HABCOM-combo scheme (AIC_w=1.00, ER_B =3445). Ronquils were observed to respond most strongly to the SUBS-primary scheme (AIC_w=0.47, ER_B =1.66). However due to the low ER_B of ronquils, two additional schemes were considered in MS2: HABCOM-primary (AIC_w=0.28, ER_B =2.81) and GS-primary (AIC_w=0.17, ER_B =5.96) (Table 5).

For the averaged full model (MS2; Table 5), the substrate variable again had the highest RI for each genus grouping. For small rockfish, depth had an equally strong RI (1.00). Large rockfish and ronquils showed some evidence of RI for the depth variable, though to a lesser degree (0.75 and 0.53, respectively). Large rockfish also showed a strong RI of 0.96 to biogenic structure, giving a substantial certainty that they are responding to biogenic structure. Biogenic structure was also present in the best-fit model (AIC_w=0.46, ER_o=4x10²⁸⁷) for large rockfish.

Averaged coefficient values from MS2 (Table 6) demonstrated that ronquils were observed to be associated with deeper hard substrates as well as with hard-substrate biogenic structure. Large rockfish showed an observable association with shallow depth and many habitat complexity categories, but the strongest was flat-mud-moderate-rock (see Appendix B for all categories). Large rockfish also showed an observable association with biogenic structure in both hard and soft substrates and, curiously, bedforms in soft substrates. Small rockfish showed an observable association with deeper depths, soft-substrate biogenic structure, and an association with a variety of habitat types (see Appendix B for the complete list). The strongest observable association was with crested mud and low-relief cobble. (See Appendix B for a full list of averaged coefficient values for which the corresponding categories are described above.)

Order-level and Multi-family-level Model Results

All flatfishes (Order Pleuronectiformes, n=283) were grouped together. This included right-eye and left-eye flatfishes, whether or not the eye-side was distinguishable. It is likely that a large portion of these flatfish were sanddabs (*Citharichthys* spp.); however, to maintain accuracy in identifications they were all grouped at the order level. A second group consisting of combfish (*Zaniolepis* spp.) and lingcod (*Ophiodon elongatus*) was created because of the often indistinguishable occurrence of both fishes over soft sediments ("CMLG", n=37). Most of the smaller (younger) lingcod fell into this "indistinguishable" category and were observed over soft substrates. Most of the larger (older) lingcod occurred over hard-bottom substrates.

In the habitat classification scheme model (MS1; Table 4), flatfish were observed to respond most strongly to the SUBS-combo scheme (AIC_w=0.82, ER_B=4.43) while CMLG were observed to respond most strongly strongest to the SUBS-primary scheme (AIC_w=0.41, ER_B=1.24) but also to the primary relief scheme (AIC_w=0.33, ER_B=3.80).

For the averaged full model set (MS2; Table 5), substrate demonstrated substantial evidence as an important variable for flatfishes (RI=1.00) while both depth and substrate demonstrated substantial evidence for CMLG (RI=0.84, 1.00 respectively). There is some evidence that bedforms may also play a role for CMLG, but to a lesser degree (RI=0.58).

Averaged coefficients from MS2 (Table 6) demonstrated an observable positive association of flatfishes to homogenous soft substrates and an observable negative association with mixed substrates. Additionally, flatfishes showed an observable

association to soft-sediment biogenic structure and bedforms. Standard errors were too high to report the relief category with which CMLG were most strongly associated with however they showed an observable negative association with soft-sediment biogenic structure and bedforms. (See Appendix B for a full list of averaged coefficient values for which the corresponding categories are described above.)

DISCUSSION

These results demonstrate that there is strong evidence suggesting that seafloor substrate is an important indicator of demersal fish distributions. Distributions vary across different fish species (and genera, family, etc.) and morphologies, both in the scales at which fish respond to the seafloor and in the importance of certain substrate or grain size categories. For the most part, fish-habitat association data derived from imagery collected with the camera sled are consistent with other studies conducted along the California central coast using imagery from a human-occupied submersible (Yoklavich et al. 2000; Laidig et al. 2009). The fish-habitat associations reported here were quantifiable using an AIC comparison of generalized linear models. This demonstrates the value of this approach both in obtaining results consistent with other literature and for exploring the use of a new analytical method that eliminates very few data from the set – an important consideration amidst the challenges of collecting data in deep ocean ecosystems. Given the widespread use of substrate and depth in describing demersal fish distributions (Miller and Lea 1976; Eschmeyer et al. 1983; Love et al. 2002), these results validate the use of these variables, particularly at this site and for the substrates observed. Additional structural variables of biogenic structure and softsediment bedforms demonstrated little importance in fish distributions.

By modeling the response of each fish grouping to a variety of equivalent habitat classification schemes, we showed that some schemes describe fish-habitat associations better than others. While these single-variable classification-scheme models (MS1) explained the specificity of the scale that best describes the distribution of each grouping, inference from the averaged coefficients in MS2 suggested the particular substrate, grain-size, or relief categories a given fish was observed to associate with.

Primary substrate (SUBS-primary) and substrate combination (SUBS-combo) most commonly described the scales at which multiple groups were distributed. This suggests that characterizing the seafloor in terms of substrate (soft, hard, or mixed) is important, perhaps essential when describing fish habitats. This is true across different fish grouping levels; all four showed at least one best-fit model to this type of classification. This scale is a straightforward classification and can easily be obtained and applied using moderate-resolution (10-20 m) multi-beam maps or simple imagery surveys.

The grain-size and the habitat-complexity (grain size plus relief) microhabitat scales were also important in describing fish distributions, suggesting that not only the basic substrate types, but micro-habitats within substrates are important. Some groupings, such as blackeye gobies (which responded most strongly to grain-size) showed an association with more specific habitats (i.e. mud-rock) within an area that was categorized as "mixed" by another, simpler scheme. Two observed color morphs of gobies may further describe the distribution of this small species. Green- or yellow-shaded gobies are often seen over higher-relief homogenous hard substrates while white or tan gobies were observed primarily over mixed sand and cobble substrates. Further investigations of sub-species-level distributions may explain variability within grain-size category associations.

Two rockfish-complex groups (OLYT and *Sebastomus*) also responded to the grain-size scale, but with the added component of relief, suggesting an even more specific habitat association. Indeed, these two groups were frequently seen in moderate-relief patches of varying grain-sizes. Olive/yellowtail rockfish are known to occur over boulders and rock walls (Love et al. 2002). The *Sebastomus* complex contains too many species to infer associations about each, though rosy rockfish probably composed a significant amount. Rosy rockfish have been described to inhabit a variety of rock substrates including boulders, high-relief rock, and sometimes low-lying cobbles (Love et al. 2002).

Our analytical approach assumed a uniform detection probability; that individuals of each species were equally detectable in each habitat type. Cryptic or well-disguised species in concealing habitats and species or groups that may be more easily startled by the oncoming sled and remain out of view – occurrences which both may be present in these data – can violate this assumption when they are undetected in observations. Although MacKenzie (2006) contends that inferences made in violation of this assumption may result in an inaccurate estimation of habitat use by a species, given the difficulties of surveying the depths of the ocean floor with any tool, we must proceed with the assumption that we sampled an adequate amount of each habitat type to accurately represent distributions within each type. With this assumption acknowledged, the results presented here represent our understanding of the distributions as they were observed with the camera sled.

The taxonomic level to which an individual fish can be identified (often a factor of the image quality) can influence the applicability of these associations and, ultimately, their role in management. For many fishes, especially rockfishes (Genus *Sebastes*) and flatfishes (Order Pleuronectiformes) the ability to identify to species proved difficult, given the continuous movement of the sled (and often of the fish). While grouping at the genus or species-complex level prevents us from making inferences about some individual species, broad grouping of fishes are important groups for management considerations. These more general groupings represent regulatory units, such as recreational bag limits of 10 "rockfish" per person per day (CDFG 2011) on recreational vessels. Commercial fisheries also operate under "rockfish" quotas. In both cases, take of fish is not managed at the species scale, with the exception of a few protected species (i.e. cowcod and boccacio).

The RI scores provided support for the role that each of the variables play within a model set. Clearly, for each taxonomic-level grouping, substrate was the most strongly supported variable for nearly all groups (depth, the one exception, was the strongest for combfish/lingcod). In many cases, depth was the second-most supported variable. The disparate importance of bedforms and biogenic structure variables for most groupings suggests that these have little to no effect on distributions; minimally, we can say that they received considerably less support than substrate and depth. Variables from models with high RI values across many groups, for example substrate (hard vs. soft), may be considered good global monitoring attributes for monitoring many groups simultaneously. Variables that demonstrated high relative importance for certain groups, such as biogenic structure for large rockfishes, can be considered important attributes to study for monitoring a given group of interest.

Ideally, a multiple-variable landscape description for each fish grouping would be the outcome resulting from these models. The high ER_o scores for MS2 suggest that, the best-fit model(s) are quite good at describing distributions compared to a random model (the null) while the low ER_B values suggests that the combination of variables does not affect the fit of the model as much. It is possible that other variables not collected in this study would better describe the distribution. Such variables worth considering include distance to an ecotone (e.g., Hunter-Thompson 2011), a measure of rugosity obtained from multibeam data (e.g., Young et al. 2010), and the co-occurrence of conspecifics and other fishes (Williams and Ralston 2002). Other distribution literature suggests that demersal fish distributions are not simple but are contingent on many other variables (Anderson et al. 2007). Continuing incorporation of additional environmental and structural variables will eventually lead to the ability to converge upon a model that includes the multitude of predictors of fish distributions.

The high standard error values for some of the averaged model coefficients prevented us from making statements with certainty about those specific categories. These standard error values may be due to data collection methods used with the camera sled. It is difficult to "fly" the sled at a constant altitude over stretches of moderate- and high-relief hard substrates. Thus, useable frames within the study area were often representative of lower-relief and soft-bottom substrates. Regardless, these lower-relief habitats contained different taxonomic groups, fewer fish, less diversity, and mostly flatfish, which are difficult to identify to species with camera sled imagery. Low sample sizes of each fish grouping compared to the high number of sample units (10,541 frames) may also have contributed to the high standard errors for coefficients and constrained our ability to confidently infer more about each category.

There is an increasing need to address spatial autocorrelation in distribution studies (Dormann 2007; Carl and Kuhn 2007) because it violates the assumption of independence. However, by plotting *Moran's I* correlograms using model residuals, we determined that substantial spatial autocorrelation existed for only one species (pygmy rockfish). To correct for this, we sub-sampled the data by removing every other point,

modeled this new data in the GLM set, and re-plotted the Moran's I correlogram. The new correlogram for pygmy rockfish (Appendix B) verified that *Moran's I* was no longer decreasing with increasing distance. Pygmy rockfish were the only fish to demonstrate spatial autocorrelation and they are known schooling fishes that occur in large groups (Yoklavich et al. 2000; Laidig et al. 2009). Pygmy schools were observed in this study spanning multiple consecutive frames, so removing adjacent frames in the culling step naturally reduced this violation of assumption. Culling in some circumstances may be unavoidable depending on the behavior, life history, and ecological niches of certain fishes. Since spatial autocorrelation was only observed for this one species, we were able to address it with the culling process. Had more species demonstrated autocorrelation, we would have incorporated a term in the model. This approach is strategic because it 1) minimizes removal of data points from an already sparse set and 2) can confirm the assumption of independence. By using the model residuals rather than the raw data, we were able to detect spatial autocorrelation (or lack thereof) after the model had accounted for the habitat variables that we originally sought to explain and therefore minimized the removal of data points.

Overall, the generalized linear models, in combination with AIC weights, model averaging techniques, and *Moran's I* correlograms provided a robust analysis of the seafloor habitat associations of fish groupings to the extent that it is detectible using tow-sled technology. These techniques, when used in future model-fitting with additional landscape variables not investigated here, will ultimately construct an image of the landscape with the components and properties to which fish species and groups are being detected.

CHAPTER 3

SUMMARY OF THE APPLICATIONS OF MARINE LANDSCAPE MODELING TO MANAGEMENT AGENCIES

The research presented here was, from its inception, directed toward informing resource management at the federal level, with the Monterey Bay National Marine Sanctuary (MBNMS, NOAA) as well as at the California state level with the MPA Monitoring Enterprise and the California Department of Fish and Game (CDFG). MBNMS and CDFG manage large areas of the marine environments and yet they lack sufficient information on many of the resources they manage (MLMA 1998; NOAA 2008, 2009). Data on fish distributions and habitat characterizations are important for understanding how to manage fisheries and protect habitats (Airame et al. 2003). By evaluating imagery data collected by the sled and a multi-variable modeling approach to understanding how fish use habitat, we have provided information that is of potential value to two management agencies.

MONTEREY BAY NATIONAL MARINE SANCTUARY (NOAA)

As one of the nation's largest National Marine Sanctuaries, the MBNMS is faced with the daunting task of characterizing the many ecosystems that fall within its limits (NOAA 2008). Its 8000 km² are home to a vast number of diverse ecosystems including submarine canyons, deep seamounts, the productive rocky reef and soft-bottom shelf, with tidepools and sandy beaches scattered along its roughly 450 km of coastline.

The results presented in this study can answer and inform some of the questions and issues that the MBNMS must grapple with as a management agency. Three major documents outline the issues that MBNMS must address: 1) The MBNMS Condition Report (NOAA 2009); 2) The MBNMS Management Plan (NOAA 2008); and 3) The MBNMS Ecosystem-Based Management Initiative (NOAA 2011).

The Condition Report (NOAA 2009) asks questions about the status of knowledge of resources in the MBNMS. This report asks specifically about the "abundance and distribution of major habitat types and how [are they] changing?" The report recognizes that little is known about the offshore environment; however, the results presented here directly address this question by describing the habitats at Piedras Blancas, a previously uncharacterized area of the Sanctuary. Prior to these imagery surveys, very little was known about the seafloor habitats in the site.

The Management Plan (NOAA 2008) guides the process for understanding and, ultimately, protecting the resources within the MBNMS (NOAA 2008). Action plans within this document identify areas or issues in the MBNMS that are in need of attention. These plans can stem from concerned public citizens or from top-down issues presented from an umbrella government agency. The results from these analyses presented above can be specifically applied to the Sanctuary Integrated Monitoring Network (SIMoN) Action Plan with its goal to create an ecosystem-wide monitoring program. These data will serve as the baseline for ecosystem data collected in the MBNMS. In order to monitor the resources in the sanctuary, a baseline is needed by which to measure natural-and anthropogenic-induced changes in the future.

Characterization of these ecosystems is an ongoing objective in the MBNMS Management Plan (NOAA 2008) and defining these systems with increasing specificity will continue to improve the scale at which they are characterized. Prior to the imagery surveys of this project and multibeam mapping by the CSUMB Seafloor Mapping Lab, very little was known about the shelf seafloor of the south sanctuary other than from recreational fishing catches. These surveys and analyses have provided the MBNMS with fish and habitat data for a previously uncharacterized area. Managers can make decisions with increased understanding about the organisms and habitats found there.

The MBNMS Ecosystem-Based Management Initiative (EBMI, NOAA 2011) focuses on improving current management efforts by incorporating ecosystem-based approaches that consider the interactions within systems. The objectives of EBMI are: to address ecosystem health and function, protect unique and rare areas, and facilitate research to better understand human impacts and sustainable resource use. The data

collected here provides baseline characterization from which changes in these the ecosystem objectives can be measured.

In addition to these reports, a major goal of the MBNMS in general is to provide outreach and education about the sanctuary to the public. Aside from the nearshore areas around Monterey Bay, much of the MBNMS is fairly inaccessible to the public and thus there is a struggle in demonstrating how "their" sanctuary is valuable. Making these data and images available to the public engages awareness and interest in what may only look like endless blue water from where they stand or drive. Furthermore, making data available to managers allows them to make informed statements and decisions about their respective areas of management.

Data from these surveys conducted at Piedras Blancas, as well as at several other areas of interest within MBNMS, have been compiled in an outreach report titled "Characterizing the Deep: Surveys in the Monterey Bay National Marine Sanctuary 2007-2010". In this report, readers are able to view photos and simplified data collected during characterization surveys (IfAME/MBNMS 2011). Sections highlight the importance of fish distributions throughout different study areas and the habitats types in each – a distilled version of the details provided in the analysis here. Also, a great deal of selected imagery from all IfAME-MBNMS Partnership surveys is made available in an online interactive database known as the Shelf Characterization and Image Display (SCID; http://sep.csumb.edu/ifame/scid). This GoogleMap-based interface allows the public to see all of the locations where surveys have been conducted and to view photos and videos from these sites, many of which support very diverse ecosystems, throughout the MBNMS. Aside from the small visitor's center in San Simeon, the southern stretch of the MBNMS from Point Lobos southward is fairly unreachable by the public; this highlights the importance of these products in portraying the more remote areas of the sanctuary.

The camera sled is owned and has been made available by the National Marine Sanctuary Program. A tremendous benefit of the sled is its ease of operation and availability to the individual sanctuaries for characterization surveys. Prior to these analyses, the imagery data collected from the sled had not been used to answer complex ecological modeling questions. However the results of this project suggest that this tool is a very valuable asset and can provide a great deal of insight into questions of landscape modeling and fish distributions. Hundreds of hours of video have been collected with the sled at other sites in MBNMS and can potentially be used to answer other questions or expand upon these analyses.

THE MARINE LIFE PROTECTION ACT INITIATIVE: MPA MONITORING ENTERPRISE AND CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF FISH AND GAME

Upon the creation in 2007 of the Central Coast Region MPA Network created under the MLPA, baseline data were needed to understand the state of the ecosystem at the time of implementation (CDFG 2007). Limited state funding was provided for projects to conduct baseline monitoring surveys at a limited number of MPA sites. While these data were robust and will provide valuable assessments of MPA efficacy, there will be gaps in reporting of baselines and changes in un-monitored MPAs. These data can be used by the CDFG for adaptive management measures, by adjusting the size and extent of the current MPAs, based on the assessments of MPA performance and recoveries of fish groups targeted for protection.

Piedras Blancas was not included in other MPA imagery surveys conducted in deep water (30-300 m). Therefore the data from this project are unique and will be made available during the Five-Year Review of the Central Coast MPA Network, scheduled for fall of 2012. This review is led by researchers and policymakers to synthesize baseline and monitoring data from CCR MPAs. A section of the review will focus on collaborative efforts by other agencies and organizations who have conducted monitoring within any CCR MPAs. Data from this study, as well as all other areas surveyed under the broad MBNMS Characterization project, are being be compiled into a database that will provide information on fish and select invertebrate diversity and abundance, as well as habitat availability and distributions. The overlap of jurisdictions of the MBNMS and state MPAs has allowed for sled imagery data collected near Piedras Blancas to serve a dual-purpose of providing baseline data on these otherwise un-monitored areas while characterizing the MBNMS.

REFERENCES

- Airame S, Dugan JE, Lafferty KD, Leslie H, McArdle D, Warner RR. 2003. Applying ecological criteria to marine reserve design: A case study from the California Channel Islands *Ecological Applications* 13(1):S170-S184.
- Anderson DR. 2007. Model Based Inferences in the Life Sciences: A Primer on Evidence. Springer Science +Business Media LLC, New York, NY.
- Anderson TJ, Yoklavich MM. 2007. Multiscale habitat associations of deepwater demersal fishes off central California. *Fisheries Bulletin* 105:168-179.
- Anderson TJ, Syms C, Roberts DA, Howard D. 2009. Multi-scale fish-habitat associations and the use of habitat surrogates to predict the organization and abundance of deep-water fish assemblages. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology* 379:34-42.
- Auster PJ, Malatesta RJ, Donaldson CLS. 1991. Distributional responses to smallscale habitat variability by early juvenile silver hake, Merluccius bilinearis. *Environmental Biology of Fishes* 50:195-200.
- Auster PJ, Lindholm J, Valentine PC. 2003a. Variation in habitat use by juvenile Acadian redfish, *Sebastes fasciatus*. *Experimental Biology of Fishes* 68:381-389.
- Auster PJ, Lindholm J, Schaub S, Funnell G, Kaufman LS, Valentine PC. 2003b. Use of sand wave habitats by silver hake. *Journal of Fish Biology* 62:143-152.
- Auster PJ, Lindholm J. 2005. The ecology of fishes on deep boulder reefs in the Western Gulf of Maine (NW Atlantic). Diving for Science 2005: *Proceedings of the American Academy of Underwater Sciences*.
- Barton K. 2011. Multi-model inference (MuMIn Package) Version 1.6.4 Accessed: 17 Dec 2011 http://mumin.r-forge.r-project.org/MuMInmanual.pdf

- Bergen M, Weisberg SB, Smith RW, Cadien DB, Dalkey A, Montagne DE, Stull JK, Velarde RG, Ranasinghe JA. 2001. Relationship between depth, sediment, latitude, and the structure of benthic infaunal assemblages on the mainland shelf of southern California. *Marine Biology* 138:637-647.
- Brødeur RD. 2001. Habitat-specific distribution of Pacific ocean perch (Sebastes alutus) in Pribilof Canyon, Bering Sea. *Continental Shelf Research* 21:207-224.
- Brown J. 2001. A Review of Marine Zones in the Monterey Bay National Marine Sanctuary. Marine Sanctuaries Conservation Series MSD-01-2. U.S. Department of Commerce, National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, Marine Sanctuaries Division, Silver Spring, MD.
- Bruggeman JE, Garrott RA, White PJ, Watson FG, Wallen R. 2007. Covariates affecting spatial variability in bison travel behavior in Yellowstone National Park. *Ecological Applications* 17(5): 1411-1423.
- Burnham KP, Anderson D. 2002. Model Selection and Multi-Model Inference (2nd Ed). Springer Science + Business Media, Inc. New York, NY.
- Carl G, Kuhn I. 2007. Analyzing spatial autocorrelation in species distributions using Gaussian and logit models. *Ecological Modelling* 207:159-170.
- [CDFG] California Department of Fish and Game. 2007. California Marine Life Protection Act Master Plan for Marine Protected Areas: Revised Draft April 13, 2007. Accessed 29 Nov 2011: http://www.dfg.ca.gov/mlpa/pdfs/masterplan041307.pdf
- [CDFG] California Department of Fish and Game. 2011. Current California Ocean Recreational Fishing Regulations (Updated November 5, 2011). Accessed 12 Dec 2011: http://www.dfg.ca.gov/marine/mapregs5.asp
- Crowder LB, Osherenko G, Young OR, Airame S, Norse EA, Baron N, Day JC, Douvere F, Ehler CN, Halpern BS, Langdon SJ, McLeod KL, Ogden JC, Peach RE, Rosenburg AA, Wilson JA. 2006. Resolving mismatches in U.S. ocean governance. *Science* 313:617-618.

- Dormann CF. 2007. Assessing the validity of autologistic regression. *Ecological Modelling* 207:234-242.
- Eschmeyer WN, Herald ES, Hammann H. 1983. A field guide to Pacific Coast Fishes of North America (Peterson Field Guides). Houghten Mifflin, New York, NY.
- Gilman SE, Wethey DS, Helmuth B. 2006. Variation in the sensitivity of organismal body temperature to climate change over local and geographic scales. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 103(25):9560-9565.
- Greene HG, Yoklavich MM, Starr RM, O'Connell VM, Wakefield WW, Sullivan DE, McRea JE, Cailliet GM. 1999. A classification scheme for deep seafloor habitats. *Oceanologica Acta* 22:663-678.
- Grober-Dunsmore R, Frazer K, Beets JP, Lindberg WK, Zwick P, Funicelli NA. 2008. Influence of landscape structure on reef fish assemblages. *Landscape Ecology* 23:37-53.
- Hallenbeck TR. 2010. Rippled scour depressions add ecologically significant heterogeneity to soft sediment habitats on the continental shelf [Master's of Science]. Seaside, CA: California State University Monterey Bay. 35 p. Available online: http://sep.csumb.edu/cwsp/theses/Hallenbeck_MSThesis_110327.pdf
- Hinchey EK, Nichelson MC, Zajac RN, Irlandi EA. 2008. Preface: Marine and coastal applications in landscape ecology. *Landscape Ecology* 23:1-5.
- Hunter-Thompson KI. 2011. Nearshore fish assemblage patterns with respect to landscape-scale habitats in Central California [Master's of Science]. Moss Landing, CA: Moss Landing Marine Labs via San Jose State University, 129 p.
- [IfAME/MBNMS] Institute for Applied Marine Ecology and Monterey Bay National Marine Sanctuary. 2011. Characterizing the Deep: Surveys in the Monterey Bay National Marine Sanctuary 2007-2011. 14pp. Accessed 12 Dec 2011: http://sep.csumb.edu/ifame/publications

- Jeffreys H. 1961. Theory of Probability (3rd Ed). Oxford University Press. New York, NY.
- Laidig TE, Watters DL, Yoklavich MM. 2009. Demersal fish and habitat associations from visual surveys on the central California shelf *Estuarine*, *Coastal, and Shelf Science* 83:629-637.
- Lindholm J, Auster PJ, Knight A. 2007. Site fidelity and movement of Atlantic cod Gadus morhua at deep boulder reefs in the western Gulf of Maine, USA. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* 342:239-247.
- Love MS, Yoklavich M, Thornsteinson L. 2002. The Rockfishes of the Northeast Pacific. University of California Press, Berkeley and Los Angeles, California.
- Love MS, Yoklavich M. 2008. Habitat characteristics of juvenile cowcod, Sebastes levis (Scorpanidae), in Southern California. *Environmental Biology of Fishes* 82:195-202.
- MacKenzie DI. 2006. Modeling the probability of resource use: The effect of, and dealing with, detecting a species imperfectly. *The Journal of Wildlife Management* 70(2):367-374.
- MacPherson E. 2003. Species range size distributions for some marine taxa in the Atlantic Ocean: Effect of latitude and depth. *Biological Journal of the Linnean Society* 80:437-455.
- Miller DJ, Lea RN. 1976. Guide to the Coastal Marine Fishes of California. California Fish Bulletin Number 57. University of California, Richmond, CA.
- [MLMA] California Marine Life Management Act (California AB 1241). Enacted 01 Jan 1999.
- [NOAA] National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, National Ocean Service, National Marine Sanctuary Program. 2008. Monterey Bay National Marine Sanctuary Final Management Plan, Volume III: October 2008. U.S. Department of Commerce, Silver Spring, MD. 426 pp.

- [NOAA] National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, Office of National Marine Sanctuaries, Office of the National Marine Sanctuaries. Monterey Bay National Marine Sanctuary Condition Report 2009. U.S. Department of Commerce, Silver Spring, MD. 128 pp.
- [NOAA] National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, Office of National Marine Sanctuaries, Office of the National Marine Sanctuaries. Ecosystem Based Management Objective Accessed: 19 Dec 2011: http://montereybay.noaa.gov/resourcepro/ebmi/welcome.html
- [NRC] National Research Council. 2001. Marine Protected Areas. National Academy Press, Washington, DC.
- Palumbi SR. 2001. The Ecology of Marine Protected Areas. In Bertness D, Gaines S, Hay M (eds.), Marine Community Ecology, pp. 509-530. Sinauer Associates Inc., Sunderland, MA.
- Palumbi SR. 2003. Population genetics, demographic connectivity, and the design of marine reserves. *Ecological Applications* 13(1):S146-S158.
- Pauly D, Christensen V, Guenette S, Pitcher TJ, Sumaila UR, Walters CJ, Watson R, Zeller D. 2002. Towards sustainability in world fisheries. *Nature* 481:689-695.
- Preikshot D, Pauly D. 2005. Global Fisheries and Marine Conservation: Is Coexistence Possible? In L. Watling and E. Norse (eds.), Marine Conservation Biology: The Science of Maintaining the Sea's Biodiversity, pp 185-197. Island Press, Washington DC.
- R Development Core Team. 2011. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. ISBN 3-900051-07-0, URL http://www.R-project.org.
- Rienecke SJ, Stephens JS, Nakamura R, Nakada E, Wendt D, Wilson-Vandenburg D. 2008. Spatial and temporal approaches in analyzing recreational groundfish data from southern central California and their application toward marine protected areas. *CalCOFI Report* 49:241-255.

- Robbins BD, Bell SS. 1994. Seagrass landscapes: a terrestrial approach to the marine subtidal environment. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* 9(8):301-304.
- Shervais JW, Kimbrough DL, Renne P, Hanan BB, Murchey B, Snow CA, Schuman MMZ, Beaman J. 2004. Multi-stage origin of the Coast Range ophiolite, California: Implications for the life cycle of supra-seduction zone ophiolites. *International Geology Review* 24:289-315.
- Spencer ML, Stoner AW, Ryer CH, Munk JE. 2005. A towed camera sled for estimating abundance of juvenile flatfishes and habitat characteristics: Comparison with beam trawls and divers. *Estuarine, Coastal, and Shelf Science* 64:497-503.
- Stein DL, Tissot BN, Hixon MA, Barss W. 1992. Fish-habitat associations on a deep reef at the edge of the Oregon continental shelf. *Fisheries Bulletin* 90:450-551.
- Tissot BN, Yoklavich MM, Love MS, York K, Amend M. 2006. Benthic invertebrates that form habitat on deep banks off southern California, with special reference to deep sea coral. *Fisheries Bulletin* 104:167-1811.
- Tissot BN, Hixon MA, Stein DL. 2007. Habitat-based submersible assessment of macro-invertebrate and groundfish assemblages at Heceta Bank, Oregon, from 1988-1990. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology* 352:50-64.
- Turner MG. 1989. Landscape ecology: The effect of pattern on process. *Annual Review of Ecological Systems* 20:171-197.
- Williams EH, Ralston S. 2002. Distribution and co-occurrence of rockfishes (family: Sebastidae) over trawlable shelf and slope habitats of California and southern Oregon. *Fisheries Bulletin* 100:836-855.
- Witman JD, Etter RJ, Smith F. 2004. The relationship between regional and local species diversity in marine benthic communities: A global perspective. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 101(44):15664-15669.

- Worm B, Barbier EB, Beaumont N, Duffy JE, Folke C, Halpern BS, Jackson JBC, Lotze HK, Micheli F, Palumbi SR, Sala E, Selkoe KA, Stachowicz JJ, Watson R. 2009. Impacts of biodiversity loss on ocean ecosystem services. *Science* 304:787-790.
- Yoklavich MM, Greene HG, Cailliet GM, Sullivan DE, Lea RN, Love MS. 2000. Habitat associations of deep-water rockfishes in a submarine canyon: an example of a natural refuge. *Fisheries Bulletin* 98:625-641.
- Yoklavich M, Cailliet G, Lea R, Greene G, Starr R, de Marignac J, Field J. 2002. Deepwater habitat and fish resources associated with the Big Creek Marine Ecological Reserve. *CalCOFI Report* 43:120-140.
- Young MA, Iampietro PJ, Kvitek RG, Garza CG. 2010. Multivariate bathymetry-derived generalized linear model accurately predicts rockfish distribution on Cordell Bank, California, USA. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* 415: 247-261.
- Zajac RN. 2008. Challenges in marine, soft-sediment benthoscape ecology. *Landscape Ecology* 23:7-18.

APPENDIX A

COMPLETE MODEL SETS

MS1: Substrate Classification Scheme

- $M0 = y \sim 0$ M1 = y ~ SUBS1 M2 = y ~ SUBScombo M3 = y ~ GS1 M4 = y ~ GScombo M5 = y ~ HAB1 M6 = y ~ HABcombo M7 = y ~ REL1
- $M8 = y \sim RELcombo$

MS2: Full model set

 $M0 = y \sim 0$

- $M1 = y \sim [result from MS1]$
- $M2 = y \sim DEP$
- $M3 = y \sim MODEP$
- $M4 = y \sim BIOGEN$
- $M5 = y \sim [result from MS1] + DEP$
- $M6 = y \sim [result from MS1] + MODEP$
- $M7 = y \sim [result from MS1] + BIOGEN$
- $M8 = y \sim DEP + MODEP$
- $M9 = y \sim DEP + BIOGEN$
- $M10 = y \sim MODEP + BIOGEN$
- $M11 = y \sim [result from MS1] + DEP + MODEP$
- $M12 = y \sim [result from MS1] + DEP + BIOGEN$
- M13 = y ~ [result from MS1] + MODEP + BIOGEN
- $M14 = y \sim DEP + MODEP + BIOGEN$
- $M15 = y \sim [result from MS1] + DEP + MODEP + BIOGEN$

APPENDIX B

AVERAGED COEFFICIENTS FOR MS2

- Substrate Model Coefficients (Table B1)

- Relief Model Coefficients (Table B1)

- Grain-Size Model Coefficients (Table B2, B3)

- Habitat-Complexity Model Coefficients (Table B4, B5)

- Plots of Substrate Coefficients Relative to Each Other (B6 A, B, C)

Table B1. Averaged substrate coefficients for substrate variables (SUBS-primary and SUBS-combo) and relief (REL) variables. Shading indicates categories for which SE>2 and for which inferences regarding associations could not confidently be made.

Models that used primary substrate (SUBS-prima			-							
Deinted ansemling (Qualetius sistus)	BIO-HARD	BIO-SOFT	BIO - NONE	Depth	MODEPS-YES	MODEPS-NO	нн	HS	SH	55
Painted greenling (Oxylebius pictus)	2.2	0.0	0.0	0.1	0.2	0.0	2.2	0.0	20.6	10.9
SE	4010.0	1820.0	0.0	-0.1	1600.0	0.0	-2.5	0.0	6750.0	1800.0
CLIow	-7870.0	-3580.0	0.0	-0.1	-3130.0	0.0	-4.5	-2.5	-13300.0	-3560.0
CLUpper	7870.0	3580.0	0.0	0.0	3130.0	0.0	-0.1	2.5	13200.0	3520.0
Rosy rockfish (Sebastes rosaceus)										
Coefficient	-1.4	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-24.0	-6.2	-5.6	-4.8
SE	686.0	0.0	0.4	0.0	1000.0	0.0	1130.0	1.3	0.9	1.0
CI Low	-1350.0	-0.1	-0.7	0.0	-1960.0	-0.1	-2240.0	-8.8	-7.3	-6.8
CI Upper	1340.0	0.1	0.7	0.0	1960.0	0.1	2190.0	-3.6	-3.9	-2.8
Squarespot rockfish (Sebastes hopkinsi)										
Coefficient	-3.2	-2.3	0.0	0.0	-0.8	-0.2	-24.6	-24.5	-6.6	-6.5
SE	4220.0	1340.0	0.6	0.0	1630.0	1.1	1820.0	7930.0	2.1	2.3
CI Low	-8270.0	-2630.0	-1.2	0.0	-3200.0	-2.4	-3590.0	-15600.0	-10.7	-10.9
CI Upper	8260.0	2620.0	1.1	0.1	3200.0	2.0	3540.0	15500.0	-2.5	-2.0
Blue/black rockfish (S. mystinus/melanops)										
Coefficient	-4.4	-3.5	0.0	-0.1	0.0	6.2	-10.8	-2.1	-1.5	-1.2
SE	1510.0	591.0	0.0	0.0	0.1	595.0	595.0	0.8	1.0	1.0
CI Low	-2960.0	-1160.0	-0.1	-0.1	-0.1	-1160.0	-1180.0	-3.6	-3.5	-3.2
Ci Upper	2950.0	1160.0	0.1	0.0	0.1	11/0.0	1150.0	-0.6	0.4	0.8
Copper/gopher Tocklish (3. caunitus/carnatus)	0.0	0.0	1.0	0.0	0.1	0.0	C F	4.2	2.0	0.1
Coemcient	0.0	0.0	1.2	0.0	-0.1	0.0	-6.5	-4.2	-3.2	-2.1
	0.0	-0.7	-16	-0.1	-1.7	0.0	-0.2	-6.8	-4.8	-3.9
CLUpper	0.0	22	3.9	-0.1	-1.7	0.0	-3.8	-0.0	-1.6	-0.3
Elatfishes (Order Pleuronectiformes)	0.0	2.2	0.0	0.0	1.4	0.0	0.0	1.7	1.0	0.0
Coefficient	-2.7	0.0	0.1	0.0	0.0	0.0	-20.6	-20.6	-5.9	-3.3
SE	556.0	0.0	0.1	0.0	0.0	0.1	352.0	1100.0	1.0	0.2
CI Low	-1090.0	0.0	-0.2	0.0	0.0	-0.1	-710.0	-2170.0	-7.8	-3.7
CI Upper	1090.0	0.0	0.3	0.0	0.0	0.2	669.0	2130.0	-3.9	-2.9
Models that used substrate combination (SLIPS a	ombo) in M	<u> </u>		••						
ואוטעבוש נוומנ עשבע שעשטומנד נטוווטווומנוטוו (שטםש-נ				Donth			Hard	Co#		
Burgery realifish (Schootes wilconi)	DIO-HARD	BIO-SOFT	BIO - NONE	Depth	WODEPS-TES	WODEPS-NO	naro	5011		
Fygmy rocklish (Sebasies Wilsoni)	12	0.0	0.0	0.1	0.0	0.0	20.0	10.1		
Coenicient	4650.0	2010.0	0.0	0.1	1520.0	0.0	1720.0	-10.1		
CLI ow	-9120.0	-3940.0	0.0	0.0	-2970.0	-0.1	-3390.0	-15.0		
CI Low	9110.0	3940.0	0.0	0.0	2970.0	0.1	3330.0	-53		
Bonguils (<i>Bathbunella</i> spp)	0110.0	00-10.0	0.0	0.1	2010.0	0.1	0000.0	0.0		
Coefficient	-2.4	0.0	0.1	0.0	-7.3	0.0	-9.2	-5.1		
SE	484.0	0.0	0.3	0.0	489.0	0.0	1.5	0.9		

Models that used Relief in MS2 Combfish/lingcod (Zaniolepis spp & Ophic

CI Low

CI Upper

-951.0

946.0

0.0

0.0

-0.6

0.8

cod (Zaniolepis spp & Ophiodon elongatus)	BIO-HARD	BIO-SOFT	BIO - NONE	Depth	MODEPS-YES	MODEPS-NO	High	Moderate	Low	Crested
Coefficient	-3.6	-0.6	-0.6	0.0	-1.2	-0.9	-20.6	-20.6	-7.3	-6.8
SE	825.0	2.3	2.2	0.0	2.7	2.7	2410.0	796.0	3.31	3.12
CI Low	-1620.0	-5.1	-4.8	0.0	-6.5	-6.1	-4750.0	-1580.0	-13.8	-12.9
CI Upper	1610.0	3.8	3.7	0.1	4.2	4.4	4710.0	1540.0	-0.81	-0.685

0.0

0.0

-966.0

952.0

0.0

0.0

-12.1

-6.3

-6.8

-3.4

Table B2. Averaged substrate coefficients for primary grain-size (GS1; A) and grain-size combination (GS-combo; B) variables. Shading indicates categories for which SE>2 and for which inferences regarding associations could not confidently be made.

	Rock	Boulder	Cobble	Pebble/Gravel	Sand	Mud
Coefficient	-4.6	-4.5	-6.1	-23.2	-5.5	-22.9
SE	0.6	0.7	1.2	11200.0	0.7	705.0
CI Low	-5.8	-5.8	-8.4	-22000.0	-6.9	-1410.0
CI Upper	-3.5	-3.1	-3.8	21900.0	-4.0	1360.0

A) Canary/vermillion/yelloweye rockfish (S. pinnager/miniatus/ruberrimus)

B) Blackeye goby (Rhinogobiops nicholsi)

Secondary Habitat Type												
	М	Ν	P	C	В	R						
Μ	0.00	-11.00	5.60	-10.90	5.60	6.01						
Ν	1.86	3.52	-11.30	5.08	4.82	6.01						
Р	5.60	3.23	-11.20	-11.20	5.60	5.60						
С	-11.00	4.76	-11.40	5.07	4.23	4.27						
В	-11.10	4.80	5.60	4.24	3.35	4.61						
R	-11.20	4.51	-11.20	5.28	4.18	4.13						
	M P C B R	M 0.00 N 1.86 P 5.60 C -11.00 B -11.10 R -11.20	Seconda M N M 0.00 -11.00 N 1.86 3.52 P 5.60 3.23 C -11.00 4.76 B -11.10 4.80 R -11.20 4.51	M N P M 0.00 -11.00 5.60 N 1.86 3.52 -11.30 P 5.60 3.23 -11.20 C -11.00 4.76 -11.40 B -11.10 4.80 5.60 R -11.20 4.51 -11.20	M N P C M N P C M 0.00 -11.00 5.60 -10.90 N 1.86 3.52 -11.30 5.08 P 5.60 3.23 -11.20 -11.20 C -11.00 4.76 -11.40 5.07 B -11.10 4.80 5.60 4.24 R -11.20 4.51 -11.20 5.28	M N P C B M N P C B M 0.00 -11.00 5.60 -10.90 5.60 N 1.86 3.52 -11.30 5.08 4.82 P 5.60 3.23 -11.20 -11.20 5.60 C -11.00 4.76 -11.40 5.07 4.23 B -11.10 4.80 5.60 4.24 3.35 R -11.20 4.51 -11.20 5.28 4.18						

Table B3. Averaged coefficients for biogenic structure, depth, and bedform for primary grain-size (GS1; A) and grain-size combination (GS-combo; B) variables. Shading indicates categories for which SE>2 and for which inferences regarding associations could not confidently be made.

A) Canary/vermillion/yelloweye rockfish (*S. pinnager/miniatus/ruberrimus*)

_	BIO-HARD	BIO-SOFT	BIO - NONE	Depth	MODEPS-YES	MODEPS-NO
Coefficient	0.0	-1.6	0.0	0.0	-2.6	0.0
SE	0.3	694.0	0.0	0.0	484.0	0.0
CI Low	-0.5	-1360.0	0.0	0.0	-951.0	0.0
CI Upper	0.5	1360.0	0.0	0.0	946.0	0.0

B) Blackeye goby (Rhinogobiops nicholsi)

	BIO-HARD	BIO-SOFT	BIO - NONE	Depth	MODEPS-YES	MODEPS-NO
Coefficient	-0.2	0.1	0.0	0.0	-0.6	0.0
SE	0.4	0.5	0.0	0.0	0.8	0.0
CI Low	-0.9	-0.8	0.0	0.0	-2.2	0.0
CI Upper	0.5	1.0	0.0	0.0	1.0	0.0

Table B4. Averaged substrate coefficients for habitat complexity combination (HABCOM-combo) for large rockfish. Shading indicates categories for which SE>2 and for which inferences regarding associations could not confidently be made.

						Sec	ondary I	Habitat T	уре				
		MCS	NCS	MLO	NLO	CLO	BLO	RLO	CMD	BMD	RMD	BHI	RHI
	MCS	-10		-10				-10.48					
	NCS	-10	3.06	-10	3.87	-10	5.88	5.20	-10.48	-10.48	7.77		
be	MLO	-10	-10	0.00	-10	-10		-10.48			7.16		
2	NLO	3.53	4.23	4.51	3.71	5.05	5.01	4.86		-10.48	5.87		-10.48
itat	CLO			7.15	5.11	4.54	5.32	4.35	-10.48	5.78	5.37		
ab	BLO		-10	-10	6.09	5.78	5.34	5.38		5.20	6.91		
IJ	RLO		-10	7.14	6.02	5.57	6.01	4.44	-10.48	6.22	5.85		-10.48
ar	CMD												
<u>Lin</u>	BMD		-10		5.03	5.62	5.48	5.91	-10.48	5.96	6.16	5.88	5.08
괴	RMD			-10	6.32	6.12	5.37	5.61		6.29	5.87		6.01
	BHI	7.13									-10.48		
	RHI				-10	-10		-10.48		6.01	6.43		5.40

Table B5. Averaged coefficients for biogenic structure, depth, and bedform for large rockfish (only fish for which HABCOM was the best classification scheme).

	BIO-HARD	BIO-SOFT	BIO - NONE	Depth	MODEPS-YES	MODEPS-NO
Coefficient	0.6	0.8	0.0	0.0	0.3	0.0
SE	0.2	0.7	0.0	0.0	0.7	0.0
CI Low	0.1	-0.5	0.0	0.0	-1.1	0.0
CI Upper	1.0	2.2	0.0	0.0	1.7	0.0

Figure B1. Plot of substrate coefficients relative to each other for the substrate class scheme (SUBS; A), grain-size scheme (GS; B), and habitat complexity scheme (HABCOM; C). Values to the right indicate that the fish shows a stronger association to the corresponding substrates than values on the left. Categories corresponding to coefficient values for which SE>2 are not shown. Only fish groups with more than two coefficients are shown. Bars in a darker shade indicate the reference coefficient, if it was included (i.e., was within SE limits).





Primary Grainsize Classification Scheme

Grainsize Combination Classification Scheme

Blackeye goby

Primary Habitat Complexity Substrate Scheme



Olive/yellowtail rockfish









Figure B2. Correlograms of Moran's I plotted at 50m bins for each fish grouping.

Figure B3. Correlogram for pygmy rockfish after data culling (to remove adjacent frames)



APPENDIX C

R-CODE FOR GLM AND AIC COMPARISONS

GLM and AIC R-Code

(example of fish grouping RF_LG is provided, all other fish groupings were the same code, but call their data instead, i.e. "OLYT")

```
#Import and name raw data from CSV (Excel file)
raw.table<- read.csv(file.choose())</pre>
```

```
#Code to create AIC comparison table
AICtable <- function( aic, n) {
  K <- aic$df
  AICc <- aic$AIC + 2 * K * (K+1) / ( n - K - 1 )
  delAIC<- AICc - min( AICc )
  AICw <- exp(-0.5*delAIC) / sum( exp(-0.5*delAIC))
  data.frame( aic, AICc, delAIC , AICw)
}</pre>
```

```
#re-leveled categories so the reference is the lowest, softest
#possibility (ie soft, mud, lo-relief, no MODEP or biostructure)
raw.table$Subs1<-relevel(raw.table$Subs1, ref = "S")
raw.table$SubsCombo<-relevel(raw.table$SubsCombo, ref = "SS")
raw.table$GS1<-relevel(raw.table$GS1, ref = "M")
raw.table$GScombo<-relevel(raw.table$GScombo, ref = "MM")
raw.table$REL1<-relevel(raw.table$REL1, ref = "LO")
raw.table$Hab1<-relevel(raw.table$Hab1, ref = "MLO")
raw.table$Hab2<-relevel(raw.table$Hab1, ref = "MLO")
raw.table$Hab2<-relevel(raw.table$Hab2, ref = "MLO")
raw.table$Hab2<-relevel(raw.table$Hab2, ref = "NONE")
raw.table$BIOSTRUCT<-relevel(raw.table$BIOSTRUCT, ref = "NONE")</pre>
```

```
#For MS1: Large rockfish category(response) = RF_LG (all RF>10cm)
Hm0.RF_LG<-glm(raw.table$RF_LG~1, family=binomial)
Hm1.RF_LG<-glm(raw.table$RF_LG~raw.table$Subs1, family=binomial)
Hm2.RF_LG<-glm(raw.table$RF_LG~raw.table$SubsCombo, family=binomial)
Hm3.RF_LG<-glm(raw.table$RF_LG~raw.table$GS1, family=binomial)
Hm4.RF_LG<-glm(raw.table$RF_LG~raw.table$GS2, family=binomial)
Hm5.RF_LG<-glm(raw.table$RF_LG~raw.table$Hab1, family=binomial)
Hm6.RF_LG<-glm(raw.table$RF_LG~raw.table$Hab20mb0, family=binomial)</pre>
```

```
Hm8.RF_LG<-glm(raw.table$RF_LG~raw.table$RELcombo, family=binomial)
AICtable( AIC( Hm0.RF_LG, Hm1.RF_LG, Hm2.RF_LG, Hm3.RF_LG, Hm4.RF_LG,
Hm5.RF_LG, Hm6.RF_LG, Hm7.RF_LG,
Hm8.RF LG),length(Hm0.RF LG$residuals)))
#For MS2: Large rockfish category(response) = RF_LG (all RF>10cm)
M0.RF_LG<-glm(raw.table$RF_LG~ 1 , family=binomial)</pre>
Mn.RF_LG<-glm(raw.table$RF_LG~ 0 , family=binomial)</pre>
M1.RF_LG<-glm(raw.table$RF_LG~ 0 + raw.table$HabCombo, family=binomial)
M2.RF_LG<-glm(raw.table$RF_LG~ 0 + raw.table$Depth, family=binomial)
M3.RF_LG<-glm(raw.table$RF_LG~ 0 + raw.table$BIOSTRUCT,</pre>
family=binomial)
M4.RF_LG<-glm(raw.table$RF_LG~ 0 + raw.table$MODEPS, family=binomial)
M5.RF_LG<-qlm(raw.table$RF_LG~ 0 + raw.table$HabCombo +
raw.table$Depth, family= binomial)
M6.RF_LG<-glm(raw.table$RF_LG~ 0 + raw.table$HabCombo +</pre>
raw.table$BIOSTRUCT, family= binomial)
M7.RF_LG<-glm(raw.table$RF_LG~ 0 + raw.table$HabCombo +</pre>
raw.table$MODEPS, family= binomial)
M8.RF_LG<-glm(raw.table$RF_LG~ 0 + raw.table$Depth +</pre>
raw.table$BIOSTRUCT, family= binomial)
M9.RF_LG<-glm(raw.table$RF_LG~ 0 + raw.table$Depth + raw.table$MODEPS,
family= binomial)
M10.RF LG<-qlm(raw.table$RF LG~ 0 + raw.table$BIOSTRUCT +
raw.table$MODEPS, family= binomial)
M11.RF_LG<-qlm(raw.table$RF_LG~ 0 + raw.table$HabCombo +
raw.table$Depth + raw.table$BIOSTRUCT, family= binomial)
M12.RF_LG<-glm(raw.table$RF_LG~ 0 + raw.table$HabCombo +</pre>
raw.table$Depth + raw.table$MODEPS, family= binomial)
M13.RF_LG<-glm(raw.table$RF_LG~ 0 + raw.table$HabCombo +</pre>
raw.table$BIOSTRUCT + raw.table$MODEPS, family= binomial)
M14.RF_LG<-glm(raw.table$RF_LG~ 0 + raw.table$Depth +</pre>
raw.table$BIOSTRUCT + raw.table$MODEPS, family= binomial)
MSAT.RF_LG<-glm(raw.table$RF_LG~ 0 + raw.table$HabCombo +</pre>
raw.table$Depth + raw.table$BIOSTRUCT + raw.table$MODEPS, family=
binomial)
```

```
AICtable( AIC( M0.RF_LG, Mn.RF_LG, M1.RF_LG, M2.RF_LG, M3.RF_LG,
M4.RF_LG, M5.RF_LG, M6.RF_LG, M7.RF_LG, M8.RF_LG, M9.RF_LG, M10.RF_LG,
M11.RF_LG, M12.RF_LG, M13.RF_LG, M14.RF_LG, MSAT.RF_LG),
length(M0.RF_LG$residuals) )
```

```
#Residuals for the RF_LG winning model (M11)
```

```
RF_LG.res<-matrix(residuals(M11.RF_LG))
summary (M11.RF_LG)
par(mfrow=c(2,2))
plot (M11.RF_LG)</pre>
```

```
CORRELOGRAM CODE
```

```
rm(list=ls());
graphics.off();if(.Platform$OS.type!="windows"){windows=function()
quartz()}
dev.corr=3;windows(w=10,h=10,xpos=900,ypos=30); par(mfrow=c(5,3));
par(mai=c(0.3,0.3,0.02,0.02))
```

```
#Import and name raw data from CSV (Excel file)
SAC1<-read.csv(file.choose())
N = length(SAC1[,1]); print( paste( "Total rows in all data:", N))</pre>
```

```
#Cull points too close too each other:
```

```
if(1) {
  print( "Culling frames that are too close to previous ones..." )
  cull_threshold = 2 # Meters
  # Pre-grab these as vectors, for speed later:
  x = SAC1$north; y = SAC1$east; cam = SAC1$Camline; cull = rep( FALSE,
  N )
  for( i in 1:N ) {
   frame = SAC1[i,]
   if( i == 1 ) { prev = i; next }
   if( cam[i] != cam[prev] ) { prev = i; next }
   dist = sqrt( ( x[i] - x[prev] ) ^ 2 + ( y[i] - y[prev] ) ^ 2 )
   if( dist <= cull_threshold ) { cull[i] = TRUE; next }
   prev = i</pre>
```

```
}
SAC1 = SAC1[ cull == FALSE, ]
N = length(SAC1[,1]); print( paste( "Total rows in all data AFTER
CULLING CLOSE ONES:", N))
}
```

```
#Re-level factors so the reference is the same for all models (soft,
#mud, lo-relief, no MODEP, no BIOSTRUCT):
SAC1$Subs1 <-relevel(SAC1$Subs1, ref = "S")
SAC1$SubsCombo<-relevel(SAC1$SubsCombo, ref = "SS")
SAC1$GS1 <-relevel(SAC1$GS1, ref = "M")
SAC1$GScombo <-relevel(SAC1$GScombo, ref = "MM")
SAC1$GScombo <-relevel(SAC1$GScombo, ref = "MLO")
SAC1$Hab1 <-relevel(SAC1$Hab1, ref = "MLO")
SAC1$HabCombo <-relevel(SAC1$HabCombo, ref = "MLOMLO")
SAC1$BIOSTRUCT<-relevel(SAC1$BIOSTRUCT, ref = "NONE")
SAC1$MODEPS <-relevel(SAC1$MODEPS, ref = "NO")</pre>
```

```
# Fit a the best-fit models for each fish group:
```

```
ms = list( name=NULL, form=NULL )
addm = function( name, form ) {
nextm = length(ms$name)+1; ms$name[nextm] = name; ms$form[[nextm]] =
form; return(ms)
}
ms = addm( "M11.RF_LG", formula("SAC1$RF_LG ~ 0 + SAC1$HabCombo + 0
+ SAC1$Depth + 0 + SAC1$BIOSTRUCT"))
ms = addm( "M5.RF SM", formula("SAC1$RF SM ~ 0 + SAC1$Hab1 +
SAC1$Depth"))
ms = addm("M1.FF",
                        formula("SAC1$FF ~ 0 + SAC1$SubsCombo"))
ms = addm( "M5a.RF_BLBK", formula("SAC1$RF_BLBK ~ 0 + SAC1$SubsCombo +
SAC1$Depth"))
ms = addm( "M11.RF_CPGP", formula("SAC1$RF_CPGP ~ 0 + SAC1$SubsCombo +
SAC1$Depth + SAC1$BIOSTRUCT"))
ms = addm( "M1.RF_CVYE", formula("SAC1$RF_CVYE ~ 0 + SAC1$GS1"))
ms = addm( "M1.RF_OLYT", formula("SAC1$RF_OLYT ~ 0 + SAC1$Hab1"))
ms = addm( "M5.RF_PYGM", formula("SAC1$RF_PYGM ~ 0 + SAC1$Subs1 +
SAC1$Depth"))
ms = addm( "M1.RF_ROSY", formula("SAC1$RF_ROSY ~ 0 + SAC1$SubsCombo"))
```

```
ms = addm( "M1.RF_SQSP", formula("SAC1$RF_SQSP ~ 0 + SAC1$SubsCombo"))
ms = addm( "M1.RF_STOM", formula("SAC1$RF_STOM ~ 0 + SAC1$Hab1"))
ms = addm("M12.BEG",
                        formula("SAC1$BEG ~ 0 + SAC1$GScombo +
SAC1$Depth + SAC1$MODEPS"))
ms = addm ("M12.RQN",
                        formula("SAC1$RQN
                                              ~ 0 + SAC1$Subs1 +
SAC1$Depth + SAC1$MODEPS"))
ms = addm("M5.OXY")
                      formula("SAC1$OXY
                                             ~ 0 + SAC1$SubsCombo +
SAC1$Depth"))
ms = addm( "M12a.CMLG", formula("SAC1$CMLG ~ 0 + SAC1$Subs1 +
SAC1$Depth + SAC1$MODEPS"))
correlogram_type = "Residuals" # "Response" # vs Residuals
dev.set(dev.corr)
for( m in 1:length(ms$name)) {
 M.name
             = ms$name[m]
 print(paste("FITTING MODEL:", M.name)); print("------
---");flush.console()
 M = glm( ms$form[[m]], fam=binomial )
  if( correlogram_type == "Response" ) {moran_x=M$y} else
{moran_x=residuals( M, type="response" )}
# Make Moran correlograms
  camlines = sort(unique(SAC1$Camline))
 bins = 110; correlogram = matrix( ncol=4, nrow=bins+1, data=0 )
 colnames(correlogram) = c( "Bin", "Dist <=", "Mean", "N" )</pre>
 bin_size =10; bin_range = bins * bin_size # bin_size is in meters.
  for( bin in 1:(1+bins) ) correlogram[ bin,1:2 ] = c( bin, (bin-1) *
bin size )
#Only consider comparisons within camlines, but sum these over all
#camlines:
 moran_x_bar = mean( moran_x ); moran_denominator = 0;
```

```
moran_denominator_n = 0
```

```
for( camline in camlines ) {
    included = ( SAC1$Camline==camline ); SUB = SAC1[ included, ]
    n = length(SUB[,1]); print(paste("Camline:",camline,"Rows:",n))
```

```
#Using matrices is much faster than using data frames. Extract what we
need into a matrix.
   mat = matrix( nrow=n, ncol=3 ); colnames(mat) = c( "Resp", "E", "N"
)
   cR=1; cE=2; cN=3 # R=Response, E=Easting. N=Northing
   mat[,cR ] = moran_x[ included ]; mat[,cE ]= SUB$east; mat[,cN ] =
SUB$north
#Compare every row to every other row, compute contribution to Moran's
Т
    # and add to appropriate bin of correlogram:
    for( i in 1:n ) {
      if(i<10 | (i<100 & i%%10==0) | i%%100==0 ) { print(i);
flush.console() }
     Ri = mat[i,cR]; Ei = mat[i,cE]; Ni = mat[i,cN]
     moran_denominator = moran_denominator + (Ri - moran_x_bar ) ^ 2
     moran_denominator_n = moran_denominator_n + 1
     if( i == n ) break
     for( j in (i+1):n ) {
        Rj = mat[j, cR]
        dx = Ei - mat[j,cE]; if( dx > bin_range ) next # Faster than
using sqrt.
        dy = Ni - mat[j,cN]; if( dy > bin_range ) next
        dist = sqrt( dx^*dx + dy^*dy ); if( dist > bin range ) next
        bin = ceiling( dist / bin_size ); if( bin > bins ) stop("bin >
bin size")
       moran_numerator = ( Ri - moran_x_bar ) * ( Rj - moran_x_bar ) #
*2
        correlogram[1+bin,3:4] = correlogram[1+bin,3:4] + c(
moran_numerator, 1 )
     }
    }
  }
```

#Complete the Moran's summations and averaging: moran denominator = moran denominator / moran denominator n
```
for( bin in 1:(1+bins) ) {
    if( correlogram[bin,4] == 0 ) { correlogram[bin,3] = NA; next }
    if( moran_denominator == 0 ) { correlogram[bin,3] = NA; next }
    correlogram[bin,3] = correlogram[bin,3] / correlogram[bin,4] /
moran_denominator
}
```

#Plot

```
print("First 10 bins of correlogram:"); print(correlogram[1:10,]);
x=correlogram[,2]; y=correlogram[,3]
ylim=c(-1,1); plot(x,y,typ="l",xlab=NULL,ylab=NULL,ylim=ylim)
points(x,y,pch=19,cex=0.5); lines(c(0,1000),c(0,0)); text(
bin_range,ylim[2],pos=2,M.name)
```

```
#Add a smooth line through the noise:
if(!is.na(mean(y))){lines(x,predict(loess(y~x),new=data.frame(x=x)),col
="red")}
}
```